Province: British Columbia
Division No. 03-Vancouver
Court No. B-190571
Estate No. 11-2550171

IN THE MATTER OF THE PROPOSAL OF

FLEXFI INC., FORMERLY CO CONERSTONE CREDIT LTD.
OF THE CITY OF VANCOUVER,
PROVINCE OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

CROWE MACKAY & COMPANY LTD., TRUSTEE
TRUSTEE'S PRELIMINARY REPORT TO CREDITORS

Date of Proposal:

September 25, 2019

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1. Flexfi Inc., formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd. (the "Company" or "Flexfi") filed a Notice
of Intention to Make a Proposal ("NOI") pursuant to Section 50.4(1) of the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act on August 26, 2019. Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd. ("Crowe")
consented to act as Licensed Insolvency Trustee in the Proposal proceedings. Attached
as Appendix A is a copy of the Certificate of Filing of a Notice of Intention to Make a

Proposal from the Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy ("OSB").
2. On September 25, 2019, Flexfi filed a Proposal to its creditors. Attached as Appendix B
Is a copy of the Certificate of Filing of a Proposal from the OSB.

3. This report has been prepared by Crowe in its capacity as Trustee of the Proposal of
Flexfi based on information available as of September 30, 2019.

4. The purpose of this report is to provide the creditors with the following information:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

Background and financial position of the Company;
Summary of the Proposal & Purchase Agreement;
Cash flow projection to February 28, 2020;
Summary of the assets and liabilities;
Estimate of the realization under a bankruptcy and the Proposal; and,

f.

Trustee's recommendation.

In the Matter of the Proposal of
Flexfi Inc. formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.

Trustee's Preliminary Report

Page 2

BACKGROUND AND FINANCIAL POSITION

Background

5. The Company began operations in 2013 as a provider of small loans to underbanked
Canadians. Mr. Afshin Ardalan was the sole director of the Company and managed Its
day-to-day operations since 2014.

6. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company had developed Its lending and technology
platform over the last five years. During this period, the Company has been able to
provide In excess of 5,400 loans with a cumulative amount advanced of about
$14,000,000. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company has also built a database of
applicants In excess of 8,200 Individual parties. Mr. Ardalan advised that the average
loan size provided by the Company was about $2,500 and the Company had a repeat
business rate of about 40% (I.e. about 40% of customers are return customers).

7. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company relied primarily on funds borrowed through
various loan agreements to finance Its loans to the customers and develop Its
technology. In 2016, the Company encountered Issues with the British Columbia
Securities Commission ("BCSC"). After a lengthy process, sanctions were Imposed on
the Company and Its director by the BCSC.

8. Consequently, the Company has been unable to access additional capital In order to
continue for over 3 years. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company has been unable to

grow Its loan portfolio despite Investing significant resources Into the development of Its
digital loan portfolio and technology platform. As a result, the Company's loan portfolio
and revenues have been shrinking.

9. Despite these problems, Mr. Ardalan believes the prospects for Its core business are
positive and the business would have been In a much stronger financial position had It
not been for the regulatory problems encountered.

10. Mr. Ardalan advised that according to the Transunlon Credit Bureau, over 9 million
Canadians are underbanked. Mr. Ardalan believes the Company is In a position to sen/e

this market given the expertise It has developed over the years In this area and the
quality of Its digital lending platform.

11. However, due to the problem discussed above, the Company Is unable to generate
sufficient revenue to meet Its obligations as they generally become due. Accordingly,
the Company is now seeking a restructuring through the filing of a Proposal whereby the

operations are sold to a new entity, FInjoy Inc. ("Flnjoy"), and Its existing creditors will
receive cash as well as equity In FInjoy.
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Financial Position

12. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company had been doubling its business each year until
the BOSC issues arose in 2016. Below is a summary of the reported revenues for the
fiscal year ends 2014 to 2018 per the Company's audited financial statements.
2014 - $294,000
2015-$1,013,302
2016-$1,390,000
2017-$1,316,000
2018-$764,000

Attached as Appendix C is a copy of the most recent audited financial statements for
the fiscal year end August 31, 2018.

13. Based on the Company's Internal balance sheet and Income statement as at September
25, 2019, the Company's revenues and net Income continue on a downward trend.
Attached as Appendix D is a copy of the balance sheet and Income statement as at
September 25, 2019 based on the Company's internal accounting records.

14. Although the Company has not been able to access additional capital due to sanctions
by the BCSC, it has been maintaining its existing loan portfolio. As of September 25,
2019, the Company had loans receivable totaling $1,067,160 consisting of 558 customer
accounts. Managing a loan portfolio of this size requires resources including staffing,
rent, utilities, legal, office expenses, etc. Mr. Ardalan advised that two full time staff
members are necessary In order to deal with collections and defaults alone.
15. The Company's current operations consist primarily of managing its existing loan

portfolio. The Company has 6 staff members consisting of 1 manager (Mr. Ardalan), 1
accountant and 4 staff dealing with collection and small claims actions in BC, AB and
ON. The Company also has an independent contractor for IT support and continues to

occupy its existing leased premises. As the Company is unable to grant new loans, its
loans receivable portfolio will continue to decrease. Some of proceeds of loans collected
will be used to pay post-filing obligations including the overhead costs outlined above.
This will continue until a restructuring takes place, a deemed bankruptcy occurs or there
are no further loan receivables to collect.

SUMMARY OF PROPOSAL & PURCHASE AGREEMENT

16. As stated above, the purpose of the Proposal is to facilitate a sale of the Company's
assets to Finjoy. Attached as Appendix E is a copy of the Proposal.

17. Under the Purchase Agreement dated September 25, 2019(the "Purchase Agreement"),
the Company will sell all of its assets, including the loans receivable, to Finjoy for cash
consideration of $460,000, plus Series 1 Class A Preferred shares of Finjoy (the
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"Shares") to be issued to unsecured creditors of the Company (as discussed below).
The foregoing will result in a cash payment and distribution of the Shares to the
unsecured creditors of the Company in satisfaction of their proven claims under the
Proposal. Attached as Appendix F is a copy of the Purchase Agreement.
18. The significant terms of the Proposal and Purchase Agreement are as follows:

a. Under the Purchase Agreement, the cash payment will be paid by FInjoy to the
Trustee in a series of installments (collectively, the "Installment Payments"):

i. by no later than March 31, 2020
11. by no later than April 30, 2020
ill. by no later than May 31, 2020

$160,000;
$150,000; and,
$150,000.

The Company may delay any of the Installment Payments with the consent of the
Trustee and the Inspectors (if any).

b. The Company estimates that the unsecured creditors will recover between
$0,075 and $0.10 for every $1.00 of proven claims through a pro-rata distribution
of the Installment Payments.

c. FInjoy will provide the Company with a security interest against all of its present
and after-acquired personal property as security for the Installment Payments.
d. In respect of the Shares, Finjoy intends to raise up to $5.0MM by way of debt

and/or equity financing based on a $10.0MM valuation. On this basis, the
Company believes the imputed pre-money value of the Shares will be $2.0MM
which equates to an additional recovery to the unsecured creditors of about
$0.40 for every $1.00 of proven unsecured creditor claims.

e. There is no guarantee that Finjoy will be able to sell the Shares at the intended
valuation.

Accordingly, the actual value of the Shares may be lower than

projected above. There is also a probability that the Shares may be diluted by
further equity injections in subsequent financing to fund working capital and
growth requirements. A disclosure statement prepared by the Company in
respect of the shares is enclosed with this package,for further reference.

f. The implementation of this Proposal by the Company is subject to the
satisfaction of the conditions set out below. Undefined capitalized terms in this
section have the same meanings as set out in the Proposal:

i. this Proposal shall have been approved by the Unsecured Creditor Class
by the Required Majority in accordance with the provisions of the BIA;

ii. the Approval Order sanctioning this Proposal shall have been made, and
the effect of the Approval Order shall not have been stayed, revised.
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modified, reversed or amended, and the Approval Order shall, among
other things:

1. declare that (a) this Proposal has been approved by the Required
Majority of the Unsecured Creditors Class in conformity with the
BiA; and (b) this Proposal and the transactions contemplated
hereby, are fair and reasonable, and in the best interest of the
Company, the unsecured creditors and the other stakeholders;
2. order that this Proposal is sanctioned and approved pursuant to
the BIA; and,

3. authorize and direct the Company and the Trustee to issue,

execute and deliver the agreements, documents, securities and
Instruments contemplated by this Proposal in order to effect all
actions contemplated by this Proposal;
ill. on or before October 31, 2019, or such later date as Finjoy and the

Company may agree, Finjoy shall have obtained a variation order from
the BCSC permitting it to raise equity financing for the purpose of, among
other things, paying the Cash Payments under the Purchase Agreement;
iv. on or before the Completion Date (i.e. the date of closing of the Purchase

Agreement), Finjoy shall have raised sufficient equity financing both to
pay the Cash Payment under the Purchase Agreement and to facilitate
the commencement and continuation of its business;

V. the Purchase Agreement shall have closed in accordance with its terms;
and,

vi. all other actions, documents and agreements necessary to implement this

Proposal as required herein shall have been effected and executed.

g. The Purchase Agreement contemplates a closing date on or before January 15,
2020 unless the Company, Finjoy and the Tmstee consent to a later date.
CASH FLOW PROJECTION

19. The Company provided the Trustee with a monthly cash flow projection for the period

September 1, 2019 to February 28, 2020 pursuant to Section 50.4(2) of the Bankruptcy
and Insolvency Act (BIA). Attached as Appendix G is a copy of the cash flow
projection.

20. Mr. Ardalan advised that the cash flow projection is conservative compared to prior

years. The Company's current operations consist primarily of managing its existing loan
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portfolio. As such, it is expected that loans receivable will continue to decrease as time
goes on.

21. Mr. Ardalan advised that forecasted loan receivable collections are based on historical

trends. In preparing the projection, the Company analyzed its loan receivable collections
by age of loan (i.e. current, 0 to 29 days, 30 to 59 days, etc) on a monthly basis over the
last 8 months and calculated an average recovery rate for each age category. Mr.
Ardalan advised that the percentage of collectability each month was relatively
consistent by age of the loan.
22. The Trustee has reviewed the Company's cash flow projections with Mr. Ardalan and
believes the projections are reasonable and achievable based on information provided
by the Company and discussions with Mr. Ardalan.

23. The Trustee is required to monitor the Company's business and financial affairs
following the NOI filing and advise the creditors of any material adverse in the projected
cash flow or its financial affairs. The Trustee asked the Company to provide bi-weekly
reports on its financial performance. The Company provided the Trustee with bi-weekly
cash flow reports representing its actual results for the period August 26, 2019 to
September 9, 2019 and September 10, 2019 to September 23, 2019 along with other

documents in support of same based on the Company's financial accounting records.
Attached as Appendix H is a copy of the cash flow report to September 23, 2019.
24. The Trustee did not identify any material adverse changes based on its review of the
cash flow projection, bi-weekly cash flow reports and other banking/accounting
documentation.

SUMMARY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The following is a summary of the assets declared by the Company on its Statement of Affairs
("SOA").
Cash

25. The SOA had cash on hand of $8,079.17. As at September 24, 2019, the Company had
cash on hand of $33,427.71 based on its accounting records.

Underwriting Model, Website and Trademark

26. The SOA listed an underwriting model, website and trademark with a book value of
$15,797.71, $39,250.26 and $3,214.26 respectively. The Company does not believe
there Is any value in these items in the event of a bankruptcy.
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Computer Hardware/Software, Office Equipment, Furniture & Fixtures
27. The SOA listed computer hardware/software, office equipment and furniture/fixtures with
a book value of $2,647.72, $1,083.97 and $361.50 respectively. These items are of
nominal value in the event of a Isankruptcy.

Loans Receivabie

28. The SOA listed loans receivable with a book value of $1,128,194.18. It was estimated at
that time that $628,588.34 was collectable.

29. As of September 24, 2019, the Company had loans receivabie with a book value
totalling $1,067,160 consisting of 558 customer accounts. This included an allowance
for doubtful accounts of $453,177 consisting of 184 customer accounts. Below is a
summary of the loans receivable.
Aging
0-Current

Total

Count
294

5

425,633
27,668

Kurrent 0-29 days

27

2-late payment 30-59 days
3-Late payment 6G-g9 days
4-late payment 90-119 days
S-late payment 120-149 days
6-Ute payment 150-179 days
7-late payment 180 days or more

9

8,936

8

8,056

7

27,108

202

553,490

Grand Total

558

$ 1,067,160

6

9,294

5

6,969

The Company estimates $440,000 to $590,000 can be collected over the course of two
years.

30. It is the Company's policy to designate loans that are in default for more than 180-days
as 'doubtful'. If an account was in default for more than 180-days but a payment was

received from the customer (even if it was a partial payment), that loan would be
removed from 'doubtful' and moved back into the collectable loans receivable. This

explains why only 184 customer accounts totaling $453,177 was included in the doubtful
accounts as opposed to the 202 customer accounts totaling $553,490 above that are
greater than 180 days old.
31. The Trustee reviewed the loans receivable summaries including the Company's
calculations for doubtful accounts and believes its estimates are reasonable.

FS Financial("FS")Loans Receivable
32. The SOA listed FS Financial Loans Receivable of $516,361.03. It was estimated at that
time that none of this is collectable.
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33. Mr. Ardalan advised that the Company at one point anticipated significant growth and
raised more capital than it needed. Mr. Ardaian advised that some of the excess capital
was placed in a GIG to generate some income in the short term; however, the rate of
return on those funds was very low. Instead, the Company made loans to FS, a related
company. These loans produced a much higher rate of return than the QIC.
34. Mr. Ardalan advised that some of the ioans to FS were repaid to the Company: however,
FS ran into difficuities with the BCSC and their accounts were frozen.

Mr. Ardalan

advised that this occurred over three years ago and the accounts to this day remain
frozen. FS has not been able to conduct business and generate any revenue. Mr.
Ardaian beiieves the totai debt owed by FS is around $40MM to $50MM which includes
the $516,361.03 due to the Company.
35. Mr. Ardalan advised that the BCSC matters with FS are still ongoing and does not
beiieve any of the loans due to Flexfi are recoverable.

Database of Applicants

36. As stated above, the Company built a database of applicants in excess of 8,200
individual parties. This database of applicants is considered an asset of the Company.

However, due to privacy concerns, it is unclear whether there would be any value in this
asset in the event of a bankruptcy.

Deemed Trust Claims & Secured Creditors

37. As of September 24, 2019, the Company was current on its payroll remittances. In
addition, the Company was current on its payments to its employees.

38. Based on a Personal Property Registry search conducted by the Trustee on August 27,
2019, there were no creditors who held registered security interest against the
Company.

39. The Trustee is not aware of any creditors who may hold a deemed trust claim or secured
claim against the Company.

Preferred Creditors

40. The Trustee is not aware of any creditors who may hold a preferred claim against the

Company pursuant to Section 136 of the BIA with the exception of the costs of
administration.
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Unsecured Creditors

41. The Company listed 19 unsecured creditors on Its SOA totalling $4,702,253.68. It Is
believed that a majority. If not all, of the creditors represent the loan arrangements
referred to In the 'Background' section of this Report above.

PREFERENTIAL PAYMENTS & TRANSFERS AT UNDERVALUE

42. The Trustee has reviewed financial information and bank statements of the Company for
the three months Immediately preceding the filing of the NOi and did not Identify any
transactions which may be considered a fraudulent preference or transfer at undervalue
pursuant to Sections 95 and 96 of the BIA.

STATEMENT OF ESTIMATED REALIZATION

43. In order for the Proposal to be successful. It must be approved by a majority In number
of the creditors representing at least two-thirds In value of the claims. The Proposal
must also be approved by the Court.

44. If the Proposal Is rejected by the creditors or by the Court, the Company will be deemed
to have made an assignment Into bankruptcy as of the date of the filing of the filing of the
NOI. In the event of a bankruptcy, all of the Company's assets, undertakings and
properties (incl. loans receivable) will vest with the Trustee and the Trustee's mandate

would be to liquidate the assets for the benefit of the general body of the unsecured
creditors.

45. The Trustee prepared a schedule comparing the estimated realization and distribution in
a bankruptcy to the Proposal. Attached as Appendix I Is a Statement of Estimated
Realization.

The amounts presented were based on Information provided by the

Company and discussions with Mr. Ardalan. Mr. Ardalan reviewed this schedule and
agrees with all of the assumptions and estimates.

46. In a bankruptcy, the Trustee estimates funds available for distribution to the unsecured
creditors of $85,000 to $221,500. This equates to about $0.01 to $0.04 for every $1.00
of proven claims. This estimate is based on the following major assumptions:
a. Due to the nature and volume of the loans receivable, the Trustee believes It will
be more cost-effective to retain existing staff to assist with the collection of the

loans. The Company believes at least one or two full time employees are
required to collect the loans receivable over a time span of 12 to 15 months. In
addition, certain IT costs and office expenses would be needed to facilitate the
collections. The Trustee assumed these costs would be roughly 25% of the

gross accounts receivable collections ($110,000 to $147,000).
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b. Between $330,000 to $440,000 of the loans receivable would be collectable over
a time span of 12 to 15 months. This is lower than the estimated recoveries
noted In the 'Loans Receivable' section above as the Trustee has allowed for

additional write-offs of 25% due to the uncertainty Involved with collecting loans
In a bankruptcy.
c. There would be cash on hand of roughly $33,000. This is subject to change.
d. The Trustee's role In a bankruptcy Is much greater than In a Proposal. In
addition, legal services may be required In order to assist with the collections.
The Trustee estimates Trustee fees and legal fees of $60,000 to $100,000 and
$40,000 to $60,000 respectively.

47. Under the Proposal, the Trustee estimates funds available for distribution to the
unsecured creditors of $400,000 to $430,000 once costs of administration are

considered. This equates to about $0.08 to $0.09 for every $1.00 of unsecured
creditors' proven claims. This does not take Into consideration the value of the Shares
to be distributed to the unsecured creditors by FInjoy.

RECOMMENDATION OF THE TRUSTEE

48. The Trustee recommends that the unsecured creditors accept this Proposal for the
following reasons;

a. The Proposal offers the unsecured creditors a greater recovery than they would
receive In a bankruptcy;

b. In the event that FInjoy Is successful, there Is a possibility that the unsecured
creditors could receive even greater recoveries and participate In the future
growth of FInjoy; and,

c. Should the Proposal not be accepted, the Company will be bankrupt and there
will be nominal recoveries to the unsecured creditors.

49. There are however risks associated with accepting the Proposal. Those risks Include
the following:

a. FInjoy Is a start-up company and It is unclear whether they will be successful in
raising sufficient equity financing required to facilitate the commencement and
continuation of Its business and pay the Instalment Payments required under the
Proposal.

b. The Purchase Agreement contemplates a closing date on or before January 15,
2020 and the first of the Instalment Payments must be made no later than March
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31, 2020. The Company will continue to collect loans receivable and the funds
collected will continue to be spent in the ordinary course (i.e. to meet post-filing
obligations). Accordingly, there is a risk of diminishing returns to the unsecured
creditors if Finjoy is unable to complete the purchase transaction and a
bankruptcy occurs at a much later date.

Although Finjoy is providing the Company with a security interest against all of its
present and after acquired property, it is unclear what this security may be worth
in the event that enforcement is required at a much later date.
The actual value of the Shares is unknown at this time. In addition, the value of

the Shares may be diluted by future equity issues in subsequent financing
rounds.

VOTING PROCEDURES AND OTHER INFORMATION

50. The Proposal is deemed to be accepted by the creditors if, and only if, all classes of
unsecured creditors - other than, unless the Court orders othenwise, a class of creditors

having equity claims - vote for the acceptance of the Proposal by a majority in number
and two thirds in value of the unsecured creditors of each class present, personally or by

proxy, at the meeting and voting on the resolution.

51. Should the motion in support of the Proposal not gain the required statutory majority, the
debtor will then be deemed to have made an assignment in bankruptcy.
52. The Trustee requests that all creditors who wish to vote on this Proposal forthwith submit

a completed Proof of Claim including a Statement of Account attached as Schedule "A"
to the Trustee to allow for timely processing. Those creditors who do not plan to attend
this meeting in person, or be represented by proxy, may register their vote on the

Proposal by use of the voting letter enclosed with this package. Note that creditors
voting by voting letter must also submit a completed proof of claim with a Statement of
Account attached as Schedule "A" prior to the time set for the meeting.

53. The proof of claim and proxy must be lodged with the Trustee before the time
scheduled for the meeting of creditors if creditors wish to vote on the Proposal.
54. Electronic submission is acceptable. You may fax the above documents to the attention
of Mr. Derek Lai at Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd. (facsimile 604-687-5617) or by email (derek.lai@crowemackay.ca). It is not necessary to mail original copies to the
Trustee.

55. If accepted by the creditors and approved by the Court, the Proposal becomes binding
on all creditors whether they voted for or against the Proposal.
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DATED AT the City of Vancouver, in the Province of British Coiumbia, this 2"^ day of October,
2019.

Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd.
in its capacity as Licensed insoivency Trustee of the Proposai of
Fiexfi inc., formerly 00 Cornerstone Credit Ltd.
Per:

Mr. Derek Lai, CPA, CMA, CiRP, LIT, CFE

(Chartered insoivency & Restructuring Professional)
End.

Appendix "A"

Industry Canada

Industrie Canada

Office of the Superintendent
of Bankruptcy Canada

Bureau du surintendant
des faillKes Canada

District of
Division No.
Court No.
Estate No.

British Columbia
03 - Vancouver
11-2550171
11-2550171

In the Matter of the Notice of Intention to make a

proposal of:
Flexfi Inc., formerly CO Cornerstone Credit Ltd.
Insolvent Person
CROWE MACKAY & COMPANY LTD

Licensed Insolvency Trustee

Date of the Notice of intention:

August 26,2019

CERTiFICATE OF FILiNG OF A NOTICE OF INTENTiON TO MAKE A PROPOSAL
Subsection 50.4 ni

I, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that the aforenamed

insolvent person filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal under subsection 50.4(1)of the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act.

Pursuant to subsection 69(1)of the Act, all proceedings against the aforenamed insolvent person are stayed as of
the date of filing of the Notice of intention.

Date: August 27,2019,13:07

E-File/Dep6t Eiectronique

Official Receiver

300 Georgia Street W,Suite 2000, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6B6E1,(877)376-9902

Canada
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Industry Canada

Industrie Canada

Office of the Superintendent
of Bankruptcy Canada

Bureau du surintendant
des falllltes Canada

District of
Division No.
Court No.
Estate No.

British Columbia
03 - Vancouver
11-2550171
11-2550171

In the Matter of the Proposal of:
Flexfi Inc.,formerly CO Cornerstone Credit Ltd.
Debtor
CROWE MACKAY & COMPANY LTD

Licensed insolvency Trustee
Date of Proposal:

September 25,2019

Meeting of Creditors:

October 16.2019,10:00
1100-1177 West Hastings Street
Vancouver, British Columbia

Security:

Canada,
Chair;

Tmstee

CERTIFICATE OF FILING OF A PROPOSAL - Section 62

1, the undersigned, Official Receiver in and for this bankruptcy district, do hereby certify that:
a proposal in respect of the aforenamed debtor was filed under section 62 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency
Act.

The aforenamed trustee Is required:

to provide to me, without delay, security in the aforementioned amount; and
to send to all creditors, at least ten days prior to the meeting, a notice of a meeting of creditors, which will be
held at the aforementioned time and place.

Date: September 25,2019,17:43

E-Flie/D6pdt Eiectronlque

Officlai Receiver

300 Georgia Street W,Suite 2000, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6B6E1,(877)376-9902

CanadS
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FlexFi Inc.
Financial Statements

Year ended August 31,2018

FlexFI Inc.

1411W.Broadway, Vancouver
BC, V6H1H6
1-844-435-3934

www.flexfl.ca
|
info(5)flexfi.ca

Davidson &Company llp

!Chanercd Professional Accountants!

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'REPORT

To the Directors of
FlexFi Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of FtexFi Inc., which comprise the statements of financial
position as at August 31, 2018 and 2017,and the statements ofloss and comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes
to shareholders' deficiency for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
Management's Responsibilityfor the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation offinancial statements that are free fn>m material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors'Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement ofthe financial statements, whether due to fiaud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accoimting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,as well as evaluating
the overall presentation ofthe financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of FlexFi Inc.
as at August 31,2018 and 2017,and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

A rrefnbef of

exia
International

I2(W•609 Grantille Street. P.O. Box 10372,Patjiic Centre,liincotner. B.C,Canada V7YIC6
Telephone(604)687-0947 Dandson-co.com

Emphasis ofMatter

Without qualiiying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements which describes conditions
and matters that indicate the existence of a material imcertainty that may cast significant doubt about FicxFi Inc.'s
ability to continue as a going concern.

"DAVIDSON & COMPANY LLF'»

Vancouver, Canada
February 8,2019

Chartered Professional Accountants

flex
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

AS AT AUGUST 31,

2018

2017

ASSETS
Cash

$

131,546

Prepaid Expenses

$

764,372

2,083

Loans Receivable (Note 5)

1,643,735

1,974,485

516,361

480,306

2,072

5,652

51,982

41,716

Due from Related Parties(Note 8)
Equipment(Note 6)
intangible Assets(Note 7)
TOTAL ASSETS

-

$

2,347,779

$

3,266,531

$

65,311

$

30,078

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payables and Accrued Liabilities
Wages Payable

3,553
4,600,000

6,755
4,600,000

4,668,864

4,636,833

1

1

(2,321,086)

(1,370,303)

(2,321,085)

(1,370,302)

Loans Payable (Note 9)
TOTAL LIABIUTIES

SHAREHOLDERS'DEFICIENCY

Share Capital(Note 10}
Deficit

TOTAL UABIUTIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY

$

2,347,779

s

3,266,531

Nature ofoperations(Note 1)
Approved on behalfof director on February8,2019

P'reaor

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese FinancialStatements
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STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,

2018

2017

REVENUE

$

Interest Income

642,496

Other Income
TOTAL REVENUE

$

1,124,926

121,725

191,934

764,221

1,316,860

Sales Expense

102,272

90,356

Interest Expense(Note 9)
Bad Debt Expense(Note 5)

488,516

488,516

78,583

251,344

(669,371)

(830,216)

94,850

486,644

Wages and Salaries

622,295

771,973

Professional Fees

217,754

147,063

TOTAL COST OF REVENUE

GROSS PROFIT

OPERATING EXPENSES

Marketing

53,698

70,754

Office and Administrative

69,958

63,717

Amortization (Note 6 and 7)

16,357

24,493

Utilities

103,262

57,933

Interest Income from Related Parties(Note 8)

(37,691)

(39,225)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

(1,045,633)

(1,096,708)

LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

S (950,783)

$(610,064)

LOSS PER SHARE - BASIC AND DILUTED

S(9.51)

S(6.10)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES

100,000

100,000

OUTSTANDING - BASIC AND DILUTED

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese FinancialStatements
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

FOR THE YEAR ENDING AUGUST 31,

2018

2017

S(950,783)

$(610,064)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
Loss for the Year

items not Involving Cash:
Amortization

16,357

24,493

Bad Debt Expense

78,583

251,344

Interest Income from Related Parties

(37,691)

(39,225)

Interest Expense

488,516

488,516

(2,083)

200

253,803

1,211,024

(3,202)

(27,286)

35,233

(54,505)

(121,267)

1,244,497

(22,486)
(557)
(23,043)

(48,985)

Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital Items
Prepaid Expenses
Loans Receivable(Net)
Wages Payable
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Net Cash(Used in) Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flow from Investing Activities:
Acquisition of Intangible Assets
Acquisition of Equipment
Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

(2,839)
(51,824)

Cash Flow From Financing Activities:

Payments Received on Due From Related Parties(Net)

(70,000)

-

(488,516)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

(488,516)

(462,062)
(25,000)
(557,062)

Change In Cash during the Year

(632,826)

635,611

Interest Expense Payments

Repayment of Loan Payable

-

Cash, Beginning of Year

764,372

$ 131,546

Cash at End of Year

128,761

$

764,372

Supplemental Disclosure with Respect to Cashflow(Note 13)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese FinancialStatements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES TO SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Balance, August 31,2016

Share

Capital

100,000

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year
Balance, August 31,2017

$

-

1
-

100,000

Loss and comprehensive loss for the year
Balance, August 31,2018

Number

of Shares

1

-

100,000

-

$

1

Deficit

S(760,239)

$(760,238)

(610,064)

(610,064)

(1,370,303)

(1,370,302)

(950,783)

(950,783)

$(2,321,086)

$(2,321,085)

The accompanying notes are an Integral part ofthese FinancialStatements
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

{EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
1.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

FlexFi Inc.("FlexFI" or the "Company")was Incorporated under the Business Corporations Act(British
Columbia)on April 22,2013. Our registered and records office Is located at 2900-550 Burrard Street, Vancouver
BC V6C 0A3 and our head office Is located at 1411W. Broadway, Vancouver, BC V6H 1H6.The Company Is also
extra-provinclally registered In Alberta, Manitoba and Ontario.

The focus of FlexFI's business is to provide consumer loans to clients who either have no access to bank loans,
or who prefer the convenience of dealing with an online operator. The Company operates In one segment;
provldlng loans to clients In Canada. All the Company's capital assets are located In Canada.
2.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

STATEMENT OF COMPUANCE

These financial statements have been prepared In accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS")as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("lASB"). The policies applied In these
financial statements were based on IFRS issued and outstanding as at August 31,2018.
The Company presents Its statement of financial position on a non-classified basis in order of liquidity.
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for certain financial assets
measured at fair value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting, except for cash flow Information.
GOING CONCERN

The Company has Incurred losses from inception and does not currently have the financial resources to sustain
operations In the long-term. While the Company has been successful In obtaining its required funding In the
past, there Is no assurance that such future financing will be available or be available on favourable terms. An
Inability to raise additional financing or commence profitable operations may materially Impact the future
assessment of the Company as a going concern. These material uncertainties may cast significant doubt upon
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.Should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern. It may be unable to realize the carrying value of Its assets and to meet Its liabilities as they become
due In the normal course.
FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

These financial statements are presented In Canadian dollars, which Is the Company's functional currency.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS.ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from these
judgments and estimates.
These estimates and assumptions are based on management's historical experience, best knowledge of current
events, conditions and actions that the Company may undertake in the future and other factors that
management believes are reasonable under the circumstances.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and,the effect of a change in accounting estimate
or assumption is recognized prospectively by including it in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss in the
period of the change and in any future periods affected.
The areas where judgments, estimates and assumptions have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognized in the financial statements include the following:
Capitalization ofintangible assets
In applying its accounting policy for costs incurred during the development phase for new software,the
Company must determine whether the criteria for capitalization have been met.The most difficult and
subjective estimate is whether a project will generate probable future economic benefits. Management
considers all appropriate facts and circumstances in making this assessment including historical experience,
costs and anticipated future economic conditions.
Valuation oflong-lived assets and asset impairment
Estimated useful lives of equipment and intangible assets are based on management's judgment and
experience.
When management identifies that the actual useful lives for these assets differ materially from the estimates
used to calculate depreciation and amortization, that change is adjusted prospectively. Due to investment in
intangible assets by the Company,variations between actual and estimated useful lives could impact operating
results both positively and negatively. Asset lives, depreciation and amortization methods,and residual values
are reviewed periodically.

The Company periodically assesses the recoverability of values assigned to long-lived assets after considering
potential impairment indicated by such factors as significant changes in technological, market, economic or
legal environment, business and market trends,future prospects, current market value and other economic
factors. In performing its review of recoverability, management estimates either the value in use or fair value
less costs to sell.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
Allowancefor doubtful accounts

Our provision for doubtful accounts Is calculated as total outstanding baiance on accounts over 180 days who
have not made a payment in the past 30 days. The allowance is updated every month to maintain an adequate
allowance for doubtful accounts. Our allowance for doubtful accounts represents our estimate of the expected
credit losses inherent in our existing loan portfolio and is based on a variety of factors, including the
composition and quality of the portfolio, loan-specific information gathered through our collection efforts,
delinquency levels, our historical charge-off and loss experience, and general economic conditions. The
methodology and assumptions used in setting the loan loss allowance are reviewed regularly to reduce any
difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
Income taxes

Provisions for income taxes are made using the best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on a
qualitative assessment of all relevant factors. The Company reviews the adequacy of these provisions at the
end of the reporting period.
However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by tax
authorities. Where the final outcome of these tax-related matters is different from the amounts that were

initially recorded,such differences will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and
the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, excluding promotional discounts. The Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific
criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. The Company has concluded that it is acting as
principal in all of its revenue arrangements.
i) Interest Revenue

Interest revenue from consumer loans receivable is recognized when earned using the effective interest rate
method.

ill) Other Revenue

Other revenue consists primarily of other fees and NSF fees charged during the loan term. Other revenue is
recognized when assessed to the customer, when the underlying transaction is completed,and collection is
reasonably assured.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
COST OF SALES

Cost of sales consists of provision for doubtful accounts and transaction costs. Transaction costs are expenses
that relate directly to the acquisition and processing of new customers(excluding marketing) and include such
expenses as credit scoring fees, referral fees, commission expense and interest expense.
LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable consist of unsecured installment loans. Loans receivable are reported net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts. Loan terms generally range from 8 to 36 months.
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts that reduces the carrying value of loans Identified
as impaired to their estimated realizable amounts.
Loans classified as impaired include loans for which collection of interest and principal payments are in doubt.
Loans are also considered impaired if, in management's view, there is no longer reasonable assurance of timely
collection for the full amount of principal and interest.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception into one of the following
four categories: held for trading, held to maturity, available for sale, loans and receivables or at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL").
Financial assets classified as FVTPL are measured at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recognized
through profit and loss. The Company's cash is classified as FVTPL. Financial assets classified as loans and
receivables and held to maturity assets are measured at amortized cost. The Company's loans receivable and
due from related parties are classified as loans and receivables.
Transaction costs associated with FVTPL financial assets are expensed as incurred, while transaction costs
associated with all other financial assets are included in the initial carrying amount of the asset.

All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for impairment at
least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. Loans and receivables are considered for impairment when they
are past due or when other objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default. The
Company has no assets classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity.
Impairment of Financial Assets

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired If,
FlexFi Inc.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
and only If, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after
the initial recognition of the asset(an incurred 'loss event'], the event has a negative impact on the estimated
cash flows of the financial asset and the loss can be reliably estimated. The carrying amount of the financial
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognized as a bad
debt expense.
Our provision for doubtful accounts is calculated as total outstanding balance on accounts over 180 days who
have not made a payment in the past 30 days.The allowance is updated every month to maintain an adequate
allowance for doubtful accounts. Our allowance for doubtful accounts represents our estimate of the expected
credit losses inherent in our existing loan portfolio and is based on a variety of factors, including the
composition and quality of the portfolio, loan-specific information gathered through our collection efforts,
delinquency levels, our historical charge-off and loss experience, and general economic conditions. The
methodology and assumptions used in setting the loan loss allowance are reviewed regularly to reduce any
difference between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Financial assets,together with the associated allowances, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
further recovery. If, in a subsequent year,the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss
is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered,the recovery is
credited to bad debts expense.
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and designated upon inception as FVTPLor other
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives are also classified as held for trading and recognized at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in earnings unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Fair value changes on
financial liabilities classified as FVTPL are recognized in earnings. The Company has no liabilities classified as
FVTPL

Financial liabilities classified as other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less directly
attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of
calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life
of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. The Company's accounts payable and accrued
liabilities, loans payable and wages payable are classified as other financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
Financial instrument disclosures

The Company provides disclosures that enable users to evaluate (a)the significance of financial instruments for
the entity's financial position and performance; and (b)the nature and extent of risks arising from financial
Instruments to which the entity is exposed during the period and at the date of the statement of financial
position, and how the entity manages these risks.
The Company provides information about its financial instruments measured at fair value at one of three levels
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair value:

Level 1-quoted prices(unadjusted)in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2-inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (I.e., derived from prices); and

Level 3-inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable Inputs).
EQUIPMENT

All equipment is measured at cost less accumulated amortization. Cost includes expenditures that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives,
they are accounted for as separate items of equipment.
Amortization rates used

EQUIPMENT

Office Equipment

AMORTIZATION RATE

20%

Furniture and Fixtures

20%

Computer Hardware
Computer Software

30%
100%

The useful lives of the equipment are reviewed periodically, and the useful life is adjusted if estimates have
changed significantly.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at costs less any accumulated amortization and accumulated Impairment losses. If
any. Internally generated Intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and
the expenditure is reflected in net income in the period in which the expenditure Is incurred.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
FlexFi Inc.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the economic useful life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and the
amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period for potential impairment indicators. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption offuture economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the
amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The
amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in net income.
The Company's website is amortized over its useful life of 5 years.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested for impairment annually. The
assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be

supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.
The Company's trademarks have been assessed to have an indefinite life.
Gains or losses arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and are recognized in net income when the assets
are derecognized.
DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Development costs, including those related to the development of software, are recognized as an intangible
asset when the Company can demonstrate:
•the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset;
• how the asset will generate future economic benefits;
•the availability of resources to complete the asset; and
•the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset,the cost model is applied requiring
the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortization of the asset begins when development is complete, and the asset is available for use. It is
amortized over the period of the expected future benefit.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense Is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current tax Is the expected tax payable or
receivable on the taxable Income or loss for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantlvely enacted at the
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.
Deferred tax Is recognized In respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax Is
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based
on the laws that have been enacted or substantlvely enacted by the reporting date.
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that It Is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation that Is the result of a past
event, it Is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation. An amount equivalent to the discounted
provision Is capitalized within tangible fixed assets and Is depreciated over the useful lives of the related assets.
The increase In the provision due to passage of time Is recognized as Interest expense.
LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net less by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year.

Diluted loss per share is calculated using the treasury stock method, which assumes that the cash that would
be received on the exercise of options, warrants and convertible debentures is applied to purchase shares at
the average price during the period and that the difference between the shares Issued upon exercise of the
options and the number of shares obtainable under this computation,on a weighted average basis. Is added to
the number of shares outstanding.
IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period,the Company reviews the carrying amounts of Its tangible and Intangible
assets to determine whether there Is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such Indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset Is estimated to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

FlexFI Inc.

1411W. Broadway, Vancouver
BC, V6H1H6
1-844-435-3934

www.flexfl.ca j infoOflexfi.ca

flex

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
Where It is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,the Company estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating units("CGU")to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU's, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGU's for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,the carrying
amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized
immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or
CGU in prior year. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
loss and comprehensive loss.

4. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

IFRS 9,FinancialInstruments

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 9, Financial Instruments["IFRS 9"],for years beginning on or after
January 1,2018. IFRS 9 introduces a new expected loss impairment model which will replace the existing
incurred loss impairment model under IAS 39.
Under IAS 39,a collective allowance for loan loss is recorded on those loans,or groups of loans, where a loss
event had occurred but had not been reported, as at, or prior to, the statement of financial position date. An
incurred but not reported loss event provided objective evidence to establish an allowance for loan loss against
such loans. IAS 39 prohibited recognizing any allowance for loan losses expected in the future if a loss event
has not occurred.

Under IFRS 9,credit losses that are expected to transpire in future years irrespective of whether the loss event
has occurred or not as at the statement of financial position date, will need to be provided for. Under IFRS 9,
the Company will be required to assess and segment its loan portfolio into performing, under-performing and
non-performing categories as at each date of the statement of financial position. Loans will be categorized as
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

August 31,2018

(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)

under-performing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk. Loans will be categorized as nonperforming if there is objective evidence that such loans will likely charge off in the future. For performing
loans,the Company will record an allowance for loan losses equal to the expected losses on that group of loans
over the ensuing twelve months. For under-performing and non-performing loans, the Company will record an
allowance for loan losses equal to the expected losses on those groups of loans over their remaining life.
Ultimately, the expected credit loss will be calculated based on the probability weighted expected cash
collected shortfall against the carrying value of the loan and will consider reasonable and supportable
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future events and economic conditions that
may impact the credit profile of the loans.
It is important to note that the adoption of IFRS 9 does not directly impact the net charge-off rate of the
Company's consumer loans receivable portfolio which is driven by borrowers'credit profile and behaviour.
Likewise, the cash flows used in and generated by the Company's consumer loans receivable portfolio are not
impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9 as the periodic increase in the allowance for loan losses as a result of
growth in the consumer loans receivable is a non-cash item.
The Company's current allowance for loan losses, as determined under IAS 39, as at August 31,2018 was

$442,505. The Company estimates that implementing the requirements of iFRS 9 as at September 1,2018
would result in an increase to its allowance for loan losses of $442,505 to $570,282. This increase of $127,777
in the allowance for loan losses is not indicative of a change in the expected recovery value of the underlying
consumer loans receivable but rather a function of extending the allowance for loan losses to provide for
expected future losses over a longer future time frame.
Management continues to monitor and refine certain elements of the IFRS 9 loan impairment process in
advance of Q1F2019 reporting. All estimates reported above with respect to the expected impact of the
adoption of IFRS 9 are preliminary and are subject to change and adjustment as the Company's transition to
IFRS 9 is completed. The Company is on track to finalize its analytical and systems work and complete the
implementation of IFRS 9 within the required timeframe.

IFRS 15,Revenuefrom Contracts with Customers

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("IFRS 15"], which
clarifies the principles of recognizing revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 is
required to be applied for fiscal year beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and is to be applied retrospectively.
The new standard includes a five-step recognition and measurement approach, requirements for accounting
for contract costs and enhanced disclosure requirements. The Company does not expect the new standard to
result in any financial adjustments to the Company's financial statements, nor any material changes to the
Company's revenue recognition policies.
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(EXPRESSED IN CANADIAN DOLLARS)
IFRS16, Leases

The Company will be required to adopt IFRS 16, Leases ("IFRS 16"], which is the lASB's replacement of IAS 17.
IFRS 16 will require lessees to recognize a lease liability that reflects future lease payments and a "right-of-use
asset" for most lease contracts. IFRS 16 is required to be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after January
1,2019, with early adoption permitted, but only In conjunction with the adoption of IFRS 15. The Company is in
the process of assessing the impact of this standard.
5. LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable represent unsecured Installment loans advanced to customers In the normal course of
business. The terms of the loan vary from 9 to 36 months. The average term for the loan originated is 12
months.The breakdown of Company's gross loans receivable as at August 31,2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Age analysis of loans receivable, as at

2018

Not past due

$

1,089,954

1-30 days past due

2017

S

1,526,086

151,975

70,142

31-60 days past due

40,676

77,126

61-90 days past due

21,390

43,729

91-120 days past due

24,961

27,713

121-150 days past due

174,366

19,948

151-180 days past due

11,880

27,292

571,038

613,727

Greater than 180 days past due
Gross loans receivable

2,086,240

2,405,763

Allowance for loan losses

(442,505)

(431,278)

Loans receivable, net

$

Current

1,643,735

749,506

490,057

1,656,257

2,086,240

s

2018

Allowance for loan losses,as at

Balance, beginning of year

$

431,278

Provision for loan losses

$
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442,505

2,405,763

2017

$

11,227

Balance,end of year

1,974,485

1,596,183

Non-current

$

$

339,283
91,995

s

431,278
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Bad Debt Expense,as at

2018

Provision for loan losses

11,227

$

Bad debt written off

2017

$

67,356

Total bad debt expense

$

91,995
159,349

78,583

$

251,344

6. EQUIPMENT

Office

Furniture

Computer

Computer

Equipment

and Fixtures

Hardware

Software

Total

Cost

Balance at August 31,2016

$

Additions

4,418

$

Balance at August 31,2017

4,480

Additions

Balance at August 31,2018

802

S 13,709

S 28,928

s

47,857

729

2,048

2,839

802

14,438

30,976

50,696

120

437

62

557

$

4,480

$

922

$ 14,875

$ 30,976

$

51,253

S

1,761

$

317

S

7,490

$ 20,608

S

30,176

Accumulated Amortization

Balance at August 31,2016
Additions

Balance at August 31,2017
Additions

956

128

4,440

9,344

14,868

2,717

445

11,930

29,952

45,044

679

115

2,319

1,024

4,137

$ 30,976

$

49,181

1,024

$

5,652

s

2,072

$

3,396

$

560

s 14,249

At August 31,2017

$

1,763

$

357

$

2,508

$

At August 31,2018

$

1,084

$

362

$

626

$

Balance at August 31,2018

Net Book Value
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7.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Website

Trademarks

Development

Total

Cost

Balance at August 31,2016

2,356

$

$ 2,356

S

858

48,127

48,985

Balance at August 31,2017

3,214

48,127

51,341

Additions

9,518

12,968

22,486

12,732

$ 61,095

$ 73,827

Additions

Balance at August 31,2018

$

Accumulated Amortization

Balance at August 31,2016

$

Additions

-

$

-

Balance at August 31,2017

-

Additions

-

Balance at August 31,2018

$

.

$

$
9,625

9,625

9,625

9,625

12,220

12,220

21,845

$ 21,845

Net Book Value

At August 31,2017

S

3,214

$ 38,502

$ 41,716

At August 31,2018

$

12,732

$ 39,250

$ 51,982
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSAaiONS
KEY MANAGEMENTPERSONNEL

Key management personnel("KMP")are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel consist of
officers and directors.

The loan receivable from FS Financial Strategies has an interest rate of 10%, unsecured, with no terms of
repayment.

Balances and transactions with KMP during the year ended August 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of:

2018

2017

AMRITDHAUWAL

Loan payable

$ 300,000

$ 300,000

Salary paid

$

$ 36,570

Interest expense

$

45,000

$ 45,000

Salary paid

$

96,000

Due from Afshin Ardalan

$

-

$ 96,000
s 1,239

$

-

-

AFSHIN ARDALAN

SCOTT LOW

Salary paid

$ 30,000

FS FINANCIAL STRATEGIES

Loan receivable

S 452,287

$ 452,287

64,074

S 48,390

$ 26,383
$ 42,000

s 37,691

$ 39,225

$

s

Interest receivable

S

Rent
Interest income

VALIANT MEDIA LTD("VML")
Due from VML

-

397

9. LOANS PAYABLE

For the loans payable below. Interest is paid on the IS"* of every month.Total interest expense for the year
ended August 31, 2017 and 2018 was $488,516 and $488,516 respectively.
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All of the loans were extended without any penalty or extra interest to the Company.
Agreement
Name

Annual
Interest

2018

2017

Term

Expiry Date

Extension

date
Rate

Atousa Hajshirmohammadi

$

25,000

$

25,000

l-Jan-14

15%

6

30-Jun-14

30-Jun-19

Atousa Hajshirmohammadi

125,000

125,000

15-Jun-15

15%

6

14-Dec-15

14-Dec-19

Amrit Dhaliwal

300,000

300,000

l-Jun-15

15%

12

31-May-16

31-May-19

Charles Sheng Lu

250,000

250,000

6-Dec-14

10%

24

05-Dec-17

05-Dec-19

Chia Yueh Wei

400,000

400,000

6-Dec-14

10%

24

05-Dec-17

05-Dec-19

Da- Wei David Chao

200,000

200,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Maria Firenze

100,000

100,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Pei-Jung Lee

300,000

300,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Rebecca Family Trust

250,000

250,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Rita Johnson

100,000

100,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Aug-19

Rosanna Van Buekenhout

100,000

100,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Aug-19

WL Strategic Partners

150,000

150,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Volanda Newman

150,000

150,000

15-Feb-15

10%

36

14-Feb-18

14-Feb-19

Jimmy Arthur Jimenez

100,000

100,000

15-Mar-15

10%

36

14-Mar-18

14-Mar-19

WL Strategic Partners

200,000

200,000

15-Apr-15

10%

36

14-Apr-18

14-Apr-19

Yo Jong Liu

200,000

200,000

15-Apr-15

10%

36

14-Apr-18

14-Apr-19

Pei-Jung Lee

100,000

100,000

15-May-15

10%

36

14-May-18

14-May-19

WL Strategic Partners

300,000

300,000

6-Jul-15

10%

36

05-JUI-18

05-Jul-19

Chi Hao Chen

150,000

150,000

15-Jul-15

10%

36

14-Jul-18

14-Jul-19

Mei-Jung Su

150,000

150,000

15-Jul-15

12%

36

14-JUI-18

14-Jul-19

Yung Chang Liu

150,000

150,000

15-Jul-15

12%

36

14-Jul-18

14-JUI-19

Dylan Holdings

250,000

250,000

lO-Feb-16

10%

36

09-Feb-19

Zhi Pang Yang

250,000

250,000

lO-Feb-16

10%

36

09-Feb-19

WL Strategic Partners

150,000

150,000

7-Apr-16

10%

36

06-Apr-19

WL Strategic Partners

150,000

150,000

13-Apr-16

10%

36

12-Apr-19

Total loans payable

$ 4,600,000

$ 4,600,000
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Short term loans

$ 2,150,000

$ 3,825,000

Long term loans

$ 2,450,000

5

Total loan payable

$ 4,600,000

$ 4,600,000

775,000

10.SHARE CAPITAL

The Company's authorized share capital is comprised of an unlimited number of common shares issuable in
one or more series.

There were no shares, options, or warrants issued or granted during the years ended August 31,2018 and
2017.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in the fair value hierarchy according to the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement. Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair
value measurement requires judgement and may affect placement within the fair value hierarchy levels(Note
3).
Cash is carried at a level 1 fair value measurement.The carrying value of loans receivable,due from related
parties, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, loans payable and wages payable approximates fair value due
to the short-term nature of the financial instruments. Long-term loans receivable and payable are carried at
amortized cost.

Fair value estimates of financial instruments are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant information
about financial markets and specific financial instruments. As these estimates are subjective in nature,
involving uncertainties and matters of significant judgment,they cannot be determined with precision.
Changes in assumptions can significantly affect estimated fair values.
FINANOAL RISK FACTORS

The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are summarized below:
Credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the loans receivable. The
Company makes consumer loans to customers pursuant to policies and procedures that are intended to ensure
that there is no concentration of credit risk with any particular individual, company or other entity, although
the Company is subject to a higher level of credit risk due to the credit constrained nature of many of the
Company's customers.
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The credit risk on the Company's consumer loans receivable made in accordance with policies and procedures
is impacted by both the Company's credit policies and the lending and collecting practices which are overseen
by the Company's Management. Credit quality of the customer is assessed based on a proprietary credit rating,
income and debt service ratios. All of the consumer loans receivable as at August 31, 2018 and 2017 were
unsecured. The Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to customer loans receivable as low,
as its customers are located In several jurisdictions and operate independently.

The credit risk related to other loans receivable are managed in accordance with policies and procedures
resulting from the possibility of default on payments. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of
consumers and allows for uncollectible amounts when determined to be appropriate.
Liouiditv risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligation as they become due or
will not receive sufficient funds from its third-party lenders to advance to the Company's customers. The
Company believes that the cash flow provided by operations will be sufficient in the near term to meet
operational requirements and capital spending requirements. All of the Company's accounts payable and
accrued liabilities have contractual maturities of 30 days or due on demand and are subject to normal trade
terms.

In order for the Company to achieve the full growth opportunities available, however, additional sources of
financing will be required in the future. There is no certainty that these long-term sources of capital will be
available or at terms favourable to the Company.
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk measures the Company's risk of financial loss due to adverse movements in interest rates. As
at August 31,2018 and 2017 the loans payable had a fixed rate of interest.

Accordingly,future changes in interest rates will not affect the amount of interest expense payable by the
Company.
Currencv Risk

Currency risk measures the Company's risk of financial loss due to adverse movements in currency exchange
rates.

The Company operates in Canada and there were no significant foreign currency transactions, hence,the
Company is not subject to currency risk.
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its
ability to meet financial obligations and continue as a going concern and to deploy capital to provide future
investment return to its shareholders.

The Company sets the amount and type of capital required relative to its assessment of risk and adjusts when
necessary to respond to changes to economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, and
externally imposed capital requirements. In order to maintain or modify its capital structure, the Company may
issue new shares, seek other forms of financing, or sell assets to reduce debt.
There have been no changes in the Compan/s capital management objectives, policies and processes during
the year ended August 31,2018.
12.INCOME TAXES

A reconciliation of income taxes(recovery)at statutory rates with the reported taxes for the years ended August
31,2018 and 2017 are as follows:

Loss before income taxes

Expected income tax recovery

2018

2017

$(950,783)

$(610,064)

(257,000)

(159,000)

18,000

43,000

Permanent differences and other

Adjustment to prior year provision versus statutory return

(61,000)

Change in unrecognized deductible temporary differences

300,000

Income tax recovery

$
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The significant components of the Company's unrecognized temporary differences and tax losses are as follows:

2018

Equipment and cumulative eligible
capital

$

Non-capital losses

4,000

1,950,000

Expiry Date Range

N/A

2017

$

2033-2038

14,000
863,000

13.SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE WITH RESPEa TO CASH FLOWS

2017

2018

Cash paid for interest

$

488,516

Cash received for interest

$

502,510

Cash paid for taxes

S

-
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462,062
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1,124,926

$

-
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FlexFi Inc.

10:38 AM

Balance Sheet

26/09/19

As of 25 September 2019

Accrual Basis

25Sep19
ASSETS

Current Assets

Chequing/Savings

25.120.41

Accounts Receivable
11000 - Accounts receivable

11001 ■ Allowance for doubtful account
11000 • Accounts receivable - Other
Total 11000 • Accounts receivable
Total /Vccounts Receivable

-460.126.00
1.055.609.98
595.483.98
595,483.98

Other Current Assets

12400 ■ Loans Receivable - FS Financial
12500 ■ Interest Receivable - RC
Total Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets

452.287.01
64.074.02

516.361.03
1.136.965.42

Fixed Assets

Underwriting Modei
17300 • Website

15.797.71
39.250.26

17400 - Trademark

3.214.26

17500 ■ Office equipment

1.083.97

17600 - Furniture and fixture

17700 ■ Computer - H/W
17800 • Computer - S/W
Total Fixed Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

361.50

2.646.94
0.78

62,355.42

1,199,320.84

LiABILiTIES & EQUITY
Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts Payable

20000 • Accounts Payable
Total Accounts Payable
Credit Cards

3.483.132.07
3.483.132.07

3,143.51

Total Current Liabilities

3.486.275.58

Long Term Liabilities
27000 • Loans Payable

1.250.000.00

Total Long Term Liabilities

1.250.000.00

Total Liabilities

4.736.275.58

Equity

31000 ■ Share Capital
32000 ■ Retained Earnings
Net Income

Total Equity
TOTAL LiABILiTIES & EQUITY

1.00

-3.442.095.60
-94.859.94
-3.536.954.74

1,199,320.84

10:39 AM

FIcxFi Inc.

Profit & Loss

26/09/19

Accniai Baste

1 September 2018 through 25 September 2019
1 Sap'18-25 Sap 19
Ordinary income/Exponso
Income

375,039.45

Cost of Goods Sold

45000 ■ Sales Expense
46000 ■ Interest expenses
47000 ■ Bad Debts expenses
Total COGS
Gross Profit

39,350.35
519,438.92
56,993.78
615,783.05
-240,743.60

Expense

52000 • Wages & salaries

524.051.48

53000 ■ Professional Fees

171,581.96

54000 ■ Advertising and Promotion

60,895.23

SSOOO • Office and Admin

23,389.96

55100 • IT Expenses

69,866.07

80000 ■ Other Misc. Expense

90000 • Utilities

6,211.75

119,090.92

Total Expense

975,087.37

Net Ordinary Income

-1,215,830.97

Net Income

-1,215,830.97

Pagol
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Province: British Columbia
Division No. 03-Vancouver
Court No. B-190571
Estate No. 11-2550171

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
IN BANKRUPTCY
IN THE MATTER OF THE PROPOSAL OF

FLEXFI INC.,FORMERLY CC CORNERSTONE CREDIT LTD.

PROPOSAL

SEPTEMBER 25,2019

294706.00001/93589858.3

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1

Definitions

In this Proposal, unless otherwise stated or unless the context otherwise requires:
(a)

"Approval Order" means the Order which, among other things, approves and
directs the implementation of this Proposal and all actions and transactions set out
herein, effective as at the Implementation Date in accordance with the terms of
this Proposal.

(b)

"BIA" means the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as
amended.

(c)

"Business Day" means any day which is not a Saturday or Sunday, or a
provincial or federal holiday in the province of British Columbia.

(d)

"Cash Payment" means the sum of $460,000, which comprises part of the
Purchase Price, and, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, is to be paid by the
Company to the Trustee on behalf of Finjoy by way of the Installment Payments
for distribution to the Unsecured Creditors pursuant to this Proposal.

(e)

"Claim" means any right or claim ofany Person against the Company whether or
not asserted in connection with any indebtedness, liability or obligation of any
kind whatsoever owed to such Person, in each case which indebtedness, liability
or obligation was in existence at the Filing Date and any interest that may accrue
thereon,including any indebtedness, liability or obligation owed to such person as
a result of any breach of duty (including, without limitation, any legal, statutory,
equitable or fiduciary duty), any right of ownership of or title to, or to a trust or
deemed trust against, any of the property or assets of the Company, whether or
not such right or claim is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed,
contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, legal, equitable, secured,
unsecured, perfected, unperfected, present, futme, known or unknown, by
guarantee, surety or otherwise, and whether or not such right is executory or
anticipatory in nature, including the right or ability of any Person to advance a
claim for contribution or indemnity or otherwise with respect to any matter,
action, cause or chose of action, whether existing at present or commenced in the
future, which indebtedness, liability or obligation is based in whole or in part on
facts which existed prior to the Filing Date and, for certainty, includes Priority
Claims.

(f)

"Company" means Flexfi Inc., formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.

(g)

"Completion Date" means the date of closing ofthe Purchase Agreement.

(h)

"Conditions Precedent" means the conditions precedent to the implementation
of this Proposal as defined and enumerated in Article S.l ofthis Proposal.

294706.00001/93S898S8.3

(i)

"Court" means the Supreme Court ofBritish Columbia.

(j)

"Creditor" means any Person having a Claim.

(k)

"Crown" means Her Majesty the Queen in right of Canada or a province.

(1)

"Crown Claim" means a Claim of the Crown for amounts that are outstanding as
at the Filing Date and are subject to a demand under:

(i)

subsection 244(1.2)ofthe Income Tax Act;

(ii)

any provision of the Canada Pension Plan or of the Employment
Insurance Act that refers to subsection 244(1.2) of the Income Tax Act and
provides for the collection of a contribution, as defined in the Canada
Pension Plan, an employee's premium, or employer's premium, as
defined in the Employment Insurance Act, or a premium under Part VII.1
of that Act, and ofany related interest, penalties or other amounts; or

(iii)

any provision of provincial legislation that has a similar purpose to
subsection 244(1.2) of the Income Tax Act, or that refers to that

subsection, to the extent that it provides for the collection of a sum,and of
any related interest, penalties or other amounts, where the sxun:

(A)

has been withheld or deducted by a Person from a payment to
another Person and is in respect of a tax similar in nature to the
income tax imposed on individuals under the Income Tax Act; or

(B)

is of the same nature as a contribution under the Canada Pension
Plan if the province is a "province providing a comprehensive
pension plan" as defined in subsection 3(1) of the Canada Pension
Plan and the provincial legislation establishes a "provincial
pension plan" as defined in that subsection.

(m) "Director" means anyone who was, or is deemed to have been, a director of the
Company at any time prior to the Implementation Date.
(n)

"Directors and Officers" means, collectively, all Directors and Officers.

(o)

"Filing Date" means August 26, 2019, the date on which the Company filed a
Notice of Intention to File a Proposal with the Office of the Superintendent of
Bankruptcy Canada.

(p)

"Filing Date Exchange Rate" means the Bank of Canada daily average
exchange rate for exchanging currency to Canadian dollars on the Filing Date.

(q)

"Finjoy" means Finjoy Inc.
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(r)

"Implementation Date" means the date on which all Conditions Precedent have
been satisfied.

(s)

"Inspectors" has the meaning ascribed to it in Article 4.7 of this Proposal.

(t)

"Installment Payments" has the meaning ascribed to it in Article 2.1 of this
Proposal.

(u)

"Meeting" means the meeting of the Unsecured Creditors held in accordance
with section 51(1) of the BIA for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit,
voting to approve this Proposal and agreeing to the compromise and arrangement
constituted hereby, and includes any subsequent reconvened meeting should any
meeting be adjourned.

(v)

"Officers" means, collectively, all current and former officers ofthe Company.

(w)

"Order" means an order ofthe Court.

(x)

"Person" means any individual, partnership, joint venture, trust, corporation,
unincorporated organization, government or any agency or instrumentality
thereof, or any other juridical entity howsoever designated or constituted.

(y)

"Post-Filing Claim" means a Claim arising from the supply of goods or services
to the Company after the Filing Date or a claim for sales or excise taxes, source
deductions or assessments and premiums arising in relation to such Claims. Post-

Filing Claims do not include claims in respect of an obligation incurred prior to
the Filing Date but which is payable after the Filing Date.

(z)

"Post-Filing Creditor" means a Creditor having a Post-Filing Claim.

(aa)

"Priority Claims" means all Claims, including Crown Claims, that are Proven
Claims and which, in accordance with the BIA, must be paid in priority to all
other unsecured Claims.

(bb) "Priority Creditor" means a Creditor having a Priority Claim.

(cc) "Proof of Claim" means the form of document prescribed by the BIA to be filed
with the Trustee to prove the Claim ofa Creditor.

(dd) "Proposal" means this proposal among the Company and the Unsecured
Creditors, as fi"om time to time amended, modified or supplemented pursuant to
an Order, or pursuant to an agreement among the Company and the Unsecured
Creditors as provided for herein, or at any Meeting.

(ee) "Proven Claim" means a Claim which, after delivery of a Proof of Claim to the
Trustee, has been:

(i)
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(ii)

disallowed by the Trustee and such disallowance has subsequently been
set aside in whole or in part by tbe Court,

provided that a Proven Claim shall not include any amount due to a Post-Filing
Creditor in respect of a Post-Filing Claim. Proven Claims shall not include any
interest for the period subsequent to the Filing Date.
(ff)

"Purchase Agreement" means the purchase and sale agreement dated for
reference September 25, 2019, among the Company and Finjoy pursuant to
which, among other things, Finjoy will acquire substantially all of the assets of
the Company,including all accounts receivable and outstanding loans.

(gg) "Purchase Price" means the purchase price payable by Finjoy to the Company
under the Purchase Agreement, which includes the Cash Payment and the
distribution ofthe Shares to the Unsecured Creditors.

(hh) "Required Majority" means a majority in number and two-thirds in value of the
Voting Creditors who vote on this Proposal in accordance with the voting
procedures established hereby and under the BIA.

(ii)

"Shares" means Series 1 Class A Preferred shares without par value of Finjoy
that, upon distribution, shall equal approximately 20% of the total outstanding
Series 1 Class A Preferred shares of Finjoy, and that, pursuant to the Purchase

Agreement and this Proposal, are to be distributed to the Unsecured Creditors.

(jj)

"Trustee" means Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd. in its capacity as proposal
trustee ofthe Company.

(kk) "Trustee's Costs" means all proper fees, expenses and legal costs of the Trustee
arising in any way in relation to this Proposal.

(11)

"Unsecured Creditor" means any Person having a Proven Claim to the extent of
its Proven Claim but who does not hold and assert or has released a registered

and/or otherwise valid security interest, mortgage, charge or encumbrance in the
assets or property ofthe Company as at the Implementation Date.

(mm) "Unsecured Creditor Class" means the class comprising all Unsecured
Creditors.

(nn) "Voting Creditors" means all Unsecured Creditors in attendance at the Meeting
in person or by proxy and who are entitled to vote at the Meeting.
1.2

Interpretation

For the purposes ofthis Proposal;

294706.00001/93S89858.3

1.3

(a)

the division of this Proposal into Sections and the insertion of headings are for
convenience only and do not form part of this Proposal and will not be used to
interpret, define or limit the scope, extent or intent of this Proposal;

(b)

all references to amoimts of money mean lawful currency of the Dominion of
Canada unless otherwise expressly indicated. All Proofs of Claim submitted by
Creditors in any other currency will be converted to Canadian Dollars at the
Filing Date Exchange Rate;

(c)

all references to time herein are to the local time in Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada unless otherwise stipulated, and where the time for anything to be done on
a particular date pursuant to this Proposal is unspecified herein, the time shall be
deemed to be 5:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada;

(d)

unless otherwise specified, the words "hereof, "herein", "hereunder" and
"hereto" refer to this Proposal in its entirety rather than any particular portion of
this Proposal;

(e)

when the context requires, a word or words importing the singular shall include
the plural and vice versa and a word or words importing one gender shall include
all genders;

(f)

the deeming provisions are not rebuttable and are conclusive and irrevocable;

(g)

the words "includes" and "including" are not limiting; and

(h)

the word "or" is not exclusive.

Statutory Reference

Unless otherwise specified, each reference to a statute in this Proposal is deemed to be a
reference to that statute and to the regulations made under that statute, as amended or re-enacted
from time to time.

1.4

Date for Any Action

In the event that any date on which any action is required to be taken under this Proposal is not a
Business Day, that action shall be required to be taken on the next succeeding date that is a
Business Day.
1.4

Interest

Interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Claims after the Filing Date, and no Claims shall be
entitled to interest accruing on or after the Filing Date.
ARTICLE 2

PURPOSE AND EFFECT OF PROPOSAL
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2.1

Purpose and Overview of this Proposal

The Company is unable to continue generating sufficient revenue so as to meet its current
obligations as they come due,let alone satisfy its obligations to its historic creditors.

The purpose ofthis Proposal is to facilitate a sale of the Company's assets to Finjoy pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement, as a result of which the Cash Payment and Shares will be made
available for distribution to the Unsecured Creditors pursuant to this Proposal in satisfaction of
their Claims against the Company.

The alternative to this Proposal and the Purchase Agreement contemplated hereunder is the
bankruptcy of the Company and the immediate liquidation of its assets. In that scenario, the
expectation is that Unsecured Creditors will recover very little, if anything, in respect of their
Claims.

Under the Purchase Agreement, the Cash Payment will be paid by Finjoy to the Trustee in a
series ofinstallments(collectively, the "Installment Payments"):
(a)

bv no later than March 31.2020:

$160,000;

(b)

bv no later than April 30. 2020:

$150,000; and

(c)

bv no later than Mav 31.2020:

$150,000

The Company may delay any one ofthe Installment Payments,as set out above, with the consent
ofthe Trustee and the Inspectors(if any).

Distributions to the Unsecured Creditors imder this Proposal will be made by the Trustee, in
respect ofthe Cash Payment and the Shares.
The total amoimt ofclaims from Unsecured Creditors is not known at this time, but the Company

does not anticipate it to exceed $5 million. Accordingly, the expectation is that through receipt of
their pro rata portion of the Cash Payment, Unsecured Creditors will recover value estimated to
be between $0,075 and $0.10(7.5 and ten cents)for every $1.00 oftheir Proven Claim.

With respect to the Shares, Finjoy's intention is to raise up to S5 million by way of debt and/or
equity financing based on a $10 million valuation. Accordingly, the imputed value ofthe Shares
is $2 million, which equates to an additional recovery for Unsecured Creditors of not less than
$0.40 (forty cents) for every $1.00 oftheir Proven Claim. There is, of course, no guarantee, that
Finjoy will be able to sell its Series 1 Class A Preferred shares at the intended valuation and,
accordingly, the actual value of the Shares may be lower, even materially lower. Further, the
value ofthe Shares may be diluted by future equity raises in subsequent financing rounds.
As will be apparent from the foregoing, the Unsecured Creditors will derive a greater benefit
from the implementation ofthis Proposal than would result from a bankruptcy ofthe Company.
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2.2

Trustee Under this Proposal

Subject to the provisions of the BIA, the Trustee shall act as the administrator for certain
purposes connected with this Proposal, including administration of the Proof of Claims process
and the Meeting, as well as the distribution of the Cash Payment, all in accordance with this
Proposal.
2.3

Persons Affected

This Proposal provides for, among other things, the compromise, discharge, and release of all
Claims against the Company and against the Directors and Officers. Accordingly, on the
Implementation Date, this Proposal will become effective and shall be binding on the Company,
the Creditors, and the Directors and Officers.
2.4

Equity Claims

All persons having equity claims or equity interests (such as those terms are defined in the BIA),
shall not be entitled to attend or vote at the Meeting, and shall not receive a distribution imder
this Proposal or otherwise receive anything in respect of their shares or interest.
2.5

Release of Company and Directors and Officers by Creditors

On the Implementation Date, each Creditor hereby, and without the need for any fiirther action,
releases:

(a)

the Company fi-om all Claims that arose before the Filing Date and that relate to
the obligations of the Company prior to the Filing Date, regardless of the date of
crystallization ofsuch Claims;

(b)

the Directors and Officers from all Claims that arose before the Filing Date and
that relate to the obligations ofthe Company prior to the Filing Date, regardless of
the date of crystallization ofsuch Claims, where the Directors and Officers are, by
law,liable in such capacity; and

(c)

no Creditor shall have any right, remedy or claim against the Trustee or the
Company, and each of their respective past and present Directors and Officers,
employees, financial advisors, legal counsel, representatives and agents, (each a
"Released Party", and collectively, the "Released Parties") for anything arising
in connection with this Proposal or these proceedings. The Released Parties shall
be fully and irrevocably released and discharged fi-om any and all demands,
claims, actions, causes of action, counterclaims, suits, debts, sums of money,

accounts, covenants, damages, judgments, orders, including for injunctive relief
or specific performance and compliance orders, expenses, executions,
enciunbrances and other recoveries on account of any liability, obligation,
demand or cause of action of whatever nature which any Creditor may be entitled
to assert, whether known or unknown, matured or unmatured, foreseen or
unforeseen, existing or hereafter arising, based in whole or in part on any
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omission, transaction, agreement, guarantee, surety, duty, responsibility,
indebtedness, liability, obligation, dealing or other occiirrence existing or taking
place on or prior to the Implementation Date that are in any way relating to,
arising out of or in connection with the Claims, as applicable, or in any way
relating to the Company or its business, all to the fiill extent permitted by
applicable law, provided that nothing herein shall release or discharge a Released
Party for gross negligence, criminal, fraudulent or other wilful misconduct, if any
such party is found liable or guilty, as the case may be, for such misconduct by

the express terms ofajudgment rendered on a final determination on the merits.
ARTICLES

TREATMENT OF CREDITORS
3.1

Classes of Creditors

For the purposes ofconsidering and voting upon this Proposal, there shall be one class of
creditors, being the Unsecured Creditors Class.
3.2

Unsecured Creditors Class

Each Unsecured Creditor shall, in full and final satisfaction ofeach Unsecured Creditor's Proven
Claim, as soon as practicable following the Implementation Date:

(a)

be paid by the Trustee their pro rala share of the Cash Payment based on the
amount of their Proven Claim; and

(b)

receive from the Trustee their pro rata share ofthe Shares based on the amount of
their Proven Claim.

3.3

Crown Claims and Priority Claims

Crown Claims that are Proven Claims shall be paid in their entirety, without interest, within six

(6) months after the granting of the Approval Order. Any other Priority Claims will be paid in
accordance with the BIA. It is anticipated that there will be no Priority Claims.
3.4

Trustee's Costs

The Trustee's Costs in respect of this Proposal shall be paid in their entirety, without interest,
within six(6)months after the granting of the Approval Order.
3.5

No Other Entitlements

Following the implementation of the Proposal in accordance herewith, no Creditor shall be
entitled to any payment on or with respect to their Claims other than as provided pursuant to this
Proposal.
ARTICLE 4

CLAIMS PROCESS AND THE MEETING OF CREDITORS
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4.1

Proving Claims

The procedure for dealing with the allowance, disallowance, and resolution of Proof of Claims
will be as set out in Section 135 ofthe BIA.

4.2

Meeting

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, the Meeting shall be held at 10:00 a.m. on October 16,
2019, at the offices of the Trustee at Suite 1100 - 1177 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia.

4.3

Conduct of Meeting

Unless otherwise ordered by the Court, the Meeting shall be chaired by a representative of the
Office of the Superintendent in Bankruptcy, or the nominee thereof. The Meeting shall be
conducted in accordance with Part 111, Division I ofthe BIA.

The only Persons entitled to attend the Meeting are the Unsecured Creditors, including the

holders of proxies, and their legal counsel, if any, and the Directors and Officers, auditors,
advisors and legal counsel of the Company, together with such representatives of the Trustee as
the Trustee may appoint in its discretion, and such scrutineers as may be duly appointed by the
chair of the Meeting. Any other person may be admitted only on invitation of the chair of the
Meeting.
4.4

Adjournment of the Meeting

The Meeting may be adjourned in accordance with section 52 of the BIA. If the Meeting is
adjourned, no further Proof of Claims nor proxies shall be filed with or accepted by the Trustee
or the Company for the purpose of voting at any reconvening ofthe Meeting.
4.5

Voting at the Meeting

Each Voting Creditor will be entitled to vote the full amount of its Proven Claim at the Meeting.
Each Voting Creditor shall have one (1) vote for the purposes of determining a majority in
number, and each Voting Creditor shall be entitled to one vote for every $1.00 of its Proven
Claim for the purposes of determining a majority in value.
4.6

Proxies and Voting Letters

Unsecured Creditors will be entitled to vote at the applicable Meeting by proxy or voting letter.

The particulars with respect to voting by proxy or voting letter will be detailed in the Proof of
Claim package and will be binding upon all Unsecured Creditors.
4.7

Inspectors
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At the Meeting, the Voting Creditors may appoint one or more, but not more than five,
inspectors(the "Inspectors"). The Inspectors shall have only the following powers:
(a)

the power to extend the dates ofpayments provided for under this Proposal;

(b)

the power to waive any default in the performance of any provision of this
Proposal;

(c)

the power to approve interim and final statements of receipts and disbursements
ofthe Trustee, including the power to approve proposed dividends and reasonable
fees and disbursements ofthe Trustee;

(d)

the power to advise the Trustee in respect of such matters as may be referred to
the Inspectors by the Trustee; and

(e)

the power to advise the Trustee concerning any dispute that may arise as to the
validity ofa Proofof Claim filed by a Creditor.

The Trustee and the Inspectors, should any be appointed, shall be exempt from all personal
liability in fulfilling any duties or exercising any powers conferred upon them by this Proposal or

generally in carrying out of the terms of this Proposal by reason of any wrongful act, default or
neglect by any ofthem.
ARTICLE 5

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT AND IMPLEMENTATION DATE

5.1

Conditions Precedent to the Implementation Date

The implementation of this Proposal by the Company on the Implementation Date is subject to
the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (collectively, the "Conditions
Precedent"):

(a)

this Proposal shall have been approved by the Unsecured Creditor Class by the
Required Majority in accordance with the provisions ofthe BIA;

(b)

the Approval Order sanctioning this Proposal shall have been made, and the effect
of the Approval Order shall not have been stayed, revised, modified, reversed or
amended, and the Approval Order shall, among other things:

(i)

declare that:(a)this Proposal has been approved by the Required Majority
of the Unsecured Creditors Class in conformity with the BIA; and (b)this

Proposal and the transactions contemplated hereby, are fair and
reasonable, and in the best interest of the Company, the Unsecured
Creditors, and the other stakeholders;

(ii)

order that this Proposal is sanctioned and approved pursuant to the BIA;
and

294706.00001/9J589858.3

12

(iii)

authorize and direct the Company and the Trustee to issue, execute and
deliver the agreements, documents, securities and instruments
contemplated by this Proposal in order to effect all actions contemplated
by this Proposal;

(c)

on or before October 31,2019,or such later date as Finjoy and the Company may
agree, Finjoy shall have obtained a variation order from the British Columbia
Securities Commission permitting it to raise equity financing for the purpose of,
among other things, paying the Cash Payment under the Purchase Agreement;

(d)

on or before the Completion Date, Finjoy shall have raised sufficient equity
financing both to pay fte Cash Payment under the Purchase Agreement and to
facilitate the commencement and continuation ofits business;

(e)

the Purchase Agreement shall have closed in accordance with its terms; and

(f)

all other actions, documents and agreements necessary to implement this Proposal
as required herein shall have been effected and executed.
ARTICLE 6

AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS

6.1

Amendment ofProposal before or at Meeting

The Company reserves the right, with the consent of the Trustee, to amend, modify, supplement
or restate this Proposal at any time prior to the Meeting, or at the Meeting, in which case the
amended, modified, supplemented or restated proposal will be put before the Unsecured Creditor
Class for approval at the Meeting.
6.2

Modification of Proposal after Meeting

After the Meeting, this Proposal may be modified from time to time:

(a)

by the Company ifthe amendment is considered by the Trustee and the Inspectors
(if any) to be non-substantive in nature, and with the approval of the Trustee, and
the majority ofthe Inspectors(if any); and

(b)

by the Court on application of the Company or the Trustee and upon notice to
those determined by the applicant to be directly affected by the proposed
modification.
ARTICLE 7
APPLICATION FOR COURT APPROVAL

7.1

Application for Court Approval

Upon the conclusion of the Meeting, if this Proposal has been approved by the Unsecured
Creditor Class by the Required Majority, the Trustee will apply to the Court for the Approval
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Order. Subject only to the Approval Order being granted and the satisfaction ofthose conditions

described in Article 5.1, this Proposal will be implemented by the Company and will be binding
upon all the Creditors and all other Persons affected by this Proposal in accordance with its
terms.

ARTICLE 8

NOTICE,UNDELIVERABLE DISTRIBUTIONS AND THE LEVY
8.1

Notices and Payments to Unsecured Creditors

Any notices, correspondence and distributions to Unsecured Creditors under or in relation to this

Proposal shall be delivered to the address provided by each Unsecured Creditor unless the
Company and the Trustee are notified by an Unsecured Creditor in writing of an alternative
address for delivery.
8.2

Undeliverable Distributions

If any distribution, delivery or correspondence to an Unsecured Creditor under this Proposal is
returned to the sender as undeliverable, no further distributions, deliveries or correspondence
shall be made to that Unsecured Creditor unless and until the sender is notified by such

Unsecured Creditor, in writing, of their current address, at which time any missed deliveries,
distributions (without interest) and correspondence shall be delivered to such Unsecured
Creditor. Undeliverable distributions shall be retained by the sender until they are claimed or
until six months after the date ofsuch distribution, after which they shall revert to Finjoy, free of
any restrictions or claims thereon.
8.3

Withholding Taxes and Superintendent's Levy

All distributions to the Unsecured Creditors under this Proposal shall be made net of the levy
imposed by the Superintendent of Bankruptcy under the BIA.

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Proposal, each Unsecured Creditor that receives a
distribution pursuant to this Proposal shall have the sole and exclusive responsibility for the
satisfaction and payment of any taxes or tax obligations imposed by any governmental entity
(including income, withholding and other tax obligations on accoimt ofsuch distribution).
ARTICLE 9

GENERAL

9.1

BIA Sections 95 to 99,and Section 101

It is a term of this Proposal that Sections 99 to 99, and Section 101, inclusive, of the BIA shall
not apply with respect to this Proposal and the Company.
9.2

Capacity of Trustee
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Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd. is acting in its capacity as Trustee and not in its personal
capacity, and shall not incur any liabilities or obligations in connection with this Proposal or in
respect of the business or obligations ofthe Company or Finjoy, whether existing as at the Filing
Date or incurred subsequent thereto and no Person shall have any Claim against Crowe MacKay
& Company Ltd. in respect thereof. The foregoing is in addition to, and not substitution for, and
in no way affects any protections afforded Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd. under the BIA or
elsewhere.

9.3

Certificate of Completion

As soon as practicable after the Implementation Date, upon the Trustee making the last
distributions by and to the Unsecured Creditors as contemplated by this Proposal, the terms of
this Proposal shall be deemed to be fully performed and the Trustee shall provide to the Official
Receiver a certificate pursuant to Section 65.3 of the BIA and the Trustee shall thereupon be
entitled to be discharged.
9.4

No Default

Each Unsecured Creditor will be deemed to have waived any default by the Company in any
provision, expressed or implied or in any agreement existing between the Unsecured Creditor
and the Company that occurred on or prior to the Implementation Date. Each Unsecured Creditor
will be deemed to have agreed that, to the extent there is any conflict between the provisions of
any such agreement and the provisions of this Proposal, the provisions of this Proposal takes
precedence and the provisions ofany such agreement are amended accordingly.
9.5

Conflicts Between the Proposal and Other Agreements

From and after the Implementation Date, any conflict between (i) this Proposal, and (ii) the
covenants, warranties, representations, terms, conditions, provisions or obligations, express or
implied, of any contract, purchase order, mortgage, security agreement, indenture, trust
indenture, loan or other agreement, commitment letter, lease or other arrangement or

undertaking, written or oral (including any and all amendments or supplements thereto) existing
with, between or among one or more of the Unsecured Creditors and the Company as at the

Implementation Date will be deemed to be governed by the provisions of this Proposal and the
Approval Order, which shall take precedence and priority. For greater certainty, all Unsecured

Cr^itors shall be deemed to consent to all transactions contemplated in this Proposal.
9.6

Severability

If, subsequent to the Implementation Date, any term or provision of this Proposal is held by the
Court to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the Court, at the request ofthe Trustee, shall have the

power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the
maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose ofthe term or provision held to
be invalid, void or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered

or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration or interpretation, the remainder of
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the terms and provisions of this Proposal shall remain in fall force and effect and shall in no way
be affected, impaired or invalidated by such holding, alteration or interpretation.
9.7

Further Assurances

Each of the Persons named or referred to in, or subject to, this Proposal will execute and deliver
all such documents and instruments and do all such acts and things as may be necessary or
desirable to carry out the fall intent and meaning of this Proposal and to give effect to the
transactions contemplated herein.
9.8

Governing Law

This Proposal will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws ofthe Province of
British Columbia and the laws of Canada applicable therein.
9.9

Notice to Company or Trustee

All notices. Proofs of Claim, and other correspondence relating to this Proposal and to be
delivered to the Company or the Trustee shall be in writing and shall be delivered either

personally, by email, by regular mail, by registered mail or by certified mail, return receipt
requested, at the following address;
To the Company

Flexfi Inc., formerly CC Comerstone Credit Ltd.
1411 West Broadway
Vancouver,BC V6H 1H6
Attention: Afshin Ardalan

Email: info@flexfi.ca
with a copv to:

Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP
2900-550 Burrard Street
Vancouver BC V6C OAS

Attention:

Kibben Jackson and Glen Nesbitt

Emails:

kjackson@fasken.com
gnesbitt@fasken.com

To the Trustee

Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd.
#1100 - 1177 West Hastings Street
Vancouver BC V6E 4T5
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9.10

Attention:

Derek Lai

Email:

derek.lai@crowemackay.ca

Successors and Assigns

This Proposal is binding upon the Company, the Creditors and their respective heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns.
9.11

Date and Reference

This Proposal may be referred to as being the Proposal of the Company dated for reference the

25"* day ofSeptember,2019.
FLEXn INC.,FORMERLY CC CORNERSTONE CREDIT LTD.

Pen

AFSHINARDALAN

(Authorized Signatory)
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT is dated for reference September 25,2019
BETWEEN:

FLEXFI INC., FORMERLY CC CORNERSTONE CREDIT LTD., a

corporation incotporated under the laws of the Dominion of Canada and
cxtra-provincially registered under the laws of the Province of British
Columbia;

(the "Seller")
AND:

FINJOY INC., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the
Dominion of Canada;

(the "Purchaser")
WHEREAS:

A.

On August 26, 2019, the Seller filed a Notice of Intention to File a Proposal (the
"Notice") with the Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy Canada (the "OSB"),
thereby initiating proceedings("Proposal Proceedings")under Part III, Division 1 of the
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3(the"BIA").

B.

Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd.(the "Trustee") was named as the proposal trustee of
the Seller in respect ofthe Proposal Proceedings.

C.

On September 25,2019, the Seller filed a proposal of the same date (the "Proposal") in
the Proposal Proceedings, a copy of which is attached hereto as Schedule "A", the
purpose of which is to compromise the claims of the Seller's creditors (the "Unsecured
Creditors") as against the Seller and its directors and officers.

D.

In order to facilitate the transactions contemplated by the Proposal, the Seller wishes to

sell, and the Purchaser wishes to purchase, dl of the Seller's right, title, and interest in
and to the Assets(as defined below) upon and subject to the terms and conditions of this
Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that for good and valuable

consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged and in consideration of the
mutual terms herein set forth, the Parties hereto agree as follows:
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DEFINITIONS

1.

In this Agreement the following terms have the following meanings:
(a)

"Agreement" means this Agreement, including the recitals and schedule hereto,
as amended and supplemented in writing according to the terms hereof.

(b)

"Approval and Vesting Order" means the order of the Supreme Court of British
Columbia which, among other things:

(i)

approves of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby,
directs the Seller to complete such transactions and vests the Assets in the
Purchaser free and clear of all encumbrances, subject to payment of the
Purchase Price;

(ii)

declares that:(a)the Proposal has been approved by the requisite majority
of the Unsecured Creditors in accordance with the provisions of the BIA;

and (b)the Proposal and the transactions contemplated thereimder are fair
and reasonable, and in the best interests of the Seller, the Unsecured
Creditors, and the other stakeholders;

(iii)

orders that the Proposal is sanctioned and approved pursuant to the BIA;
and

(iv)

authorizes and directs the Seller and the Trustee to issue, execute and
deliver the agreements, documents, securities and instruments
contemplated by the Proposal in order to effect all actions contemplated
by the Proposal.

(c)

"Assets" means all property and assets ofthe Seller of every kind and description
(whether personal, mixed, tangible or intangible) including, without limitation,
the Accoimts Receivable and the Outstanding Loans.

(d)

"Accounts Receivable" means any and all accounts receivable ofthe Seller.

(e)

"BIA"is defined in Recital A.

(f)

"Business Day" means a day, other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a statutory
holiday, on which banks are generally open for business in Vancouver, British
Columbia.

(g)

"Closing Date" means the third Business Day after the Conditions Precedent are
satisfied or waived in accordance with the terms ofthis Agreement.

(h)

"Conditions Precedent" means the conditions precedent to the completion ofthis
Agreement as defined and enumerated in Section 7 of this Agreement.

(i)

"Notice" is defined in Recital A.
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(j)

"OSB"is defined in Recital A.

(k)

"Outstanding Loans" means any and all outstanding loans owed to the Seller.

(1)

"Parties" means the Seller and the Purchaser.

(m)

"Proposal" is defined in Recital C.

(n)

"Proposal Proceedings" is defined in Recital A.

(o)

"Purchase Price" is defined in Section 5 ofthis Agreement.

(p)

"Purchaser" is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

(q)

"Seller" is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.

(r)

"Shares" means of that number of Series 1 Class A Preferred shares without par
value of the Purchaser, which shall, upon distribution to the Unsecured Creditors
in accordance with the terms of the Proposal, shall equal approximately 20% of
the equity ofthe Purchaser.

(s)

"Trustee" is defined in Recital B.

(t)

"Unsecured Creditors"is defined in Recital C.

INTERPRETATION

2.

For the purposes ofthis Agreement:

(a)

(b)

the division of this Agreement into sections and the insertion of headings are for
convenience only and do not form part of this Agreement and will not be used to
interpret, define or limit the scope,extent or intent ofthis Agreement;
all references to amounts of money mean lawful currency of the Dominion of
Canada unless otherwise expressly indicated;

(c)

all references to time herein are to the local time in Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada unless otherwise stipulated, and where the time for anything to be done on

a particular date pursuant to this Agreement is unspecified herein, the time shall
be deemed to be 5:00 p.m. local time in Vancouver, British Columbia,Canada;

(d)

unless otherwise specified, the words "hereof, "herein", "hereunder" and
"hereto" refer to this Agreement in its entirety rather than any particular portion
ofthis Agreement;

(e)

when the context requires, a word or words importing the singular shall include
the plural and vice versa and a word or words importing one gender shall include
all genders; and
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(f)

the words "includes" and "including" are not limiting, and the word "or" is not
exclusive.

SALE AND PURCHASE OF ASSETS

3.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Seller will sell to the Purchaser
and the Purchaser will purchase the Assets on the Closing Date.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTEES

4.

The Seller represents and warrants that it has legal and beneficial title to the Assets, and
that, prior to the Closing Date, the Seller will not have passed, assigned, or transferred
any interest in the Assets to any other person.

PURCHASE PRICE

5.

The purchase price to be paid by the Purchaser to the Seller for the purchase and sale of
the Assets shall be as follows (collectively, the "Purchase Price"):

(a)

payment, in cash, to the Trustee in the amount of $460,000 (the "Cash
Payment")at the following times and in the following amounts:
(i)

by no later than March 31,2020:

$160,000;

(ii)

by no later than April 30,2020:

$150,000; and

(iii)

by no later than May 31,2020:

$150,000

The Cash Payment shall be used to flmd distributions to the Unsecured Creditors
as contemplated under the Proposal, provided that should the Trustee be unable to
make any such distributions, the Trustee shall pay any unused portion ofthe Cash
Payment to the OSB pursuant to the BIA; and

(b)

on the Closing Date, by way of the delivery of the Shares to the Trustee for
distribution to the Unsecured Creditors in accordance with the terms of the

Proposal.
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SECURITY FOR CASH PAYMENT

6.

As security for the Purchaser's obligation to make the Cash Payment in accordance with
the terms of this Agreement, the Purchaser hereby grants to the Seller a continuing
security interest in all present and after-acquired personal property of the Purchaser (the
"Security Interest"). The Security Interest shall terminate immediately upon payment by
the Purchaser ofthe full amount ofthe Cash Payment at which time the Seller shall, at the
Purchaser's request, take whatever steps are necessary to discharge any filing made by
the Seller in respect of the Security Interest, including ofany financing statement filed in
the British Columbia Personal Property Registiy.

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

7.

The completion of this Agreement by the Parties on the Closing Date is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent (collectively, the "Conditions
Precedent"):

(a)

the Proposal shall have been approved by the requisite majority of the Unsecured
Creditors in accordance with the provisions ofthe BIA;

(b)

the Approval and Vesting Order shall have been made and the effect of the
Approval and Vesting Order shall not have been stayed, revised, modified,
reversed or amended;

(c)

on or before October 31, 2019, or such later date as the Purchaser and the Seller
may agree, the Purchaser shall have obtained a variation order from the British
Columbia Securities Commission permitting it to raise financing for the purpose
of,among other things, paying the Cash Payment imder this Agreement; and

(d)

on or before the Closing Date, the Purchaser shall have raised sufficient equity
financing both to pay the Cash Payment under this Agreement and to, in its sole
discretion, facilitate the commencement and continuation ofits business.

CLOSING AND TERMINATION

8.

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and the satisfaction or waiver of
the Conditions Precedent, the purchase and sale of the Assets will be completed at the
Closing Date.

9.

At the time ofclosing on the Closing Date:

(a)

the Purchaser shall effect the delivery of the Shares to the Trustee for distribution
to the Unsecured Creditors in accordance with the terms ofthe Proposal; and

(b)

the Seller shall transfer title to the Assets to the Purchaser free and clear of all
encumbrances, and the Purchaser shall take possession, and have the benefit of,
the Assets, effective as at the Closing Date at such location(s) as the Assets are at
that time situate.
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10.

This Agreement and the obligations of the Parties hereunder may be terminated by
mutual agreement ofthe Parties with the consent ofthe Trustee.

11.

If the Closing Date has not occurred by January 15,2020,or such later date as the Parties,
with the consent of the Trustee, may subsequently agree, this Agreement shall
automatically terminate.

12.

If the Parties mutually agree to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10 or this
Agreement terminates automatically in accordance with Section 11,then:
(a)

all the obligations of both the Parties, and each of them, pursuant to this
Agreement will be at an end; and

(b)

neither ofthe Parties shall have any right to specific performance or other remedy
against, or any right to recover damages or expenses from, the other or the
Trustee.

GENERAL

13.

Legal Advice: Each of the Parties hereto acknowledge that such party has carefully read

this Agreement and all other agreements and documents executed in connection
therewith, and that such party knows the contents thereof and signs the same freely and
voluntarily The Parties acknowledge that they have been represented by legal counsel of
their own choosing in negotiations for and preparation of this Agreement, or,
alternatively, have had the opportunity to seek advice from or be represented by legal
counsel of their own choosing, and all other agreements and documents executed in
connection herewith and that each ofthem has read the same and had their contents fully

explained by such counsel and is fully aware oftheir contents and legal effect.
14.

Conflict between this Agreement and the Proposal: In the event of any conflict or

inconsistency between the provisions of Uiis Agreement and the Proposal, the provisions
ofthe Proposal will prevail to the extent ofsuch conflict or inconsistency.
15.

Governing Law and Altomment: This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of the Province of British Columbia and the laws of Canada

applicable in British Columbia. The Parties irrevocably attorn to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the Courts of the Province of British Coltimbia sitting in Vancouver,
British Columbia with respect to any dispute that may arise under or in connection with
this Agreement.

16.

Notices: any notice, request, instruction or other document to be given hereunder may be
given by any party to any other party in writing and will be effective and deemed to be
given and received immediately upon receipt thereof when sent by facsimile transmission
or by email to the email address or fax number set out below or the other parties' place of
business or delivered personally to the address for that party set forth at the beginning of
this Agreement; provided that a party may from time to time change its address for
delivery by a written notice delivered to the other parties.
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(a)

to the Seller at:

Flexfi Inc., formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.
1411 West Broadway
Vancouver, BC V6H 1H6
Attention: Afshin Ardalan

Email: info@flexfi.ca
with a copy to:
Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP
2900- 550 Burrard Street
Vancouver BC V6C0A3

(b)

Attention:

Kibben Jackson and Glen Nesbitt

Emails:

kjackson@fasken.com
gnesbitt@fasken.com

to the Purchaser at:

Finjoy Inc.
1411 West Broadway
Vancouver,BC V6H 1H6
Attention: Afshin Ardalan

Email: afshin.ardalan@flexfi.ca
(c)

to the Trustee at:
Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd.
#1100 - 1177 West Hastings Street
Vancouver BC V6E 4T5

17.

Attention:

Derek Lai

Email:

derek.lai@crowemackay.ca

Assignment: This Agreement may not be assigned without the prior, written consent of
the other party.

18.

Sevcrabilitv: Should any part of this Agreonent be held unenforceable for any reason, the

imenforceable portion of this Agreement shall not affect the enforceability of the
remainder of this Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect and be
construed as ifthis Agreement had been executed without the imenforceable portion.

294706.00001/93607434.2

-8-

19.

20.

Entire Agreement: This Agreement and the Schedule to this Agreement constitute the
entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes all previous communications,
representations and agreements, whether verbal or written, between the parties with
respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and there are no representations,
warranties, conditions, terms or collateral agreements, express, implied or statutory,
between the parties except as expressly contemplated in this Agreement.
Amendment and Waiver: No amendment, discharge, modification, restatement,

supplement, termination or waiver of this Agreement or any Section ofthis Agreement is
binding unless it is in writing and executed by the party to be bound. No waiver of,
failure to exercise or delay in exercising, any Section of this Agreement constitutes a
waiver of any other Section (whether or not similar) nor does any waiver constitute a
continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided.
21.

Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when
executed and delivered (by scan and e-mail or facsimile or otherwise) shall be deemed to
be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same document.

22.

Enurement: This Agreement shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit ofthe Parties
to this Agreement and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, personal
representatives, successors and permitted assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date first
written above.

FLEXFI INC.FORMERLY CC
CORNERSTONE CREDIT LTD.

By:
Name:

Title:

FINJOY INC.

By:
Name:

Title:

294706.00001/93607434.2

Appendix "6"

In the Matter ofthe Proposal of Flexfi Inc.,formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.
Projected Cash Flow Statement
For the period September 1,2019 to February 28,2020
1
:dari^20.- .u
Total 1

Beginning

Cash on hand(beginning of

1 201927 ^^44.390

month)

20.927

58.579

1 65.400

65.108

56.979

1

CASH RECEIPTS
Collections on accounts receivable
TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS
Total cash available

|
.: 1 i:/ 1

1 75.682

• • 111 • .' 1 1'

55.974

48.138

1 41.3991

lssHts^^8

55.974 48.138
121.374 113.246

20.9271108.930!

1

1

{CASH PAID OUT
Wages and Salaries
Professional Fees
Legal
Trustee
Small Claims
Office expense
IT expenses
Rent
Telephone

30.909

31.362

33.136

3^136

33.136

33.136 194.812

12^000

12.000
10.000
600
1.000
1.500

12.000
5.000
600
1.000
1.500

10^^000

10.000
5.000

66.000
40.000

600

3^600

1^000

6.000
9.000

7.861

7.881

7.881

10.000
5.000
600
1.000
1.500
7.881

650
-3.500

650
-3.500

650
-3.500

650
-3.500

650

-3^500

64.540

61.492

58.266

56.266

56.266

56.266 353.098

64.540

61.492

58.266
65.400

56.266
65.108

56.266
56.979

56.266 353,098
42.111

10.000
600
1.000
1.500
7.881
650

Less: Sub lease

SUBTOTAL
Cash Disbursement to Creditors
TOTAL CASH PAID OUT

Cash on hand fend of month)

<:.. • i I!! 1 !

1

20.927! 44.390 58.579

5.000
600
1.000

JL5Q0

1.500
7.881

47^286
3.900
-17.500

Flexfi Inc.,fomiMlyCC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.

Tliis stalmumi of pnfaeied cash tow of Flext Inc., foiniefty CC Comeratona CraCit Ltd., was prepared in aecotdanoa with Paragraph S0.4{2)of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
and should be read In ooi^uctian with Iha Ttuslee's Report

Crowe MacKay & Company Ltd.

in its capadty as Trustee under the Ftotice of intention to Matte a Proposal of

FlexB inc.,(brmeily CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd. and not In Its personal capacity
Per Oetelt Lai,CPA,OytA,CiRP,UT,CFE

Appendix "H"

Weekly Cash Flow Actuals
FlexFi Inc.
Aug 26 to Sep 9, Sep 10 to Sep 23,
Beginning

2019

2019

Total

Cash on hand (beginning of
month)

27,895

27,895

59,304

79,581

79,581

79,581

79,581

41,805
41,805
69,700

38,067
38,067
97,371

0

0

0

0

79,581

79,581

79,581

79,581

CASH RECEIPTS
Collections on accounts receivable
TOTAL CASH RECEIPTS
Total cash available

CASH PAID OUT
Wages and Salaries
Extended Health

Source Deductions

mm

m\

■ iHII

27,695

11.167

Ifltll

u{t|[
fl|||[

Trustee

mill
lltlll
[Bill

Small Claims

Mil

Legal

Office expense
IT expenses
Rent

Telephone
Less: Sub lease
Credit report fees
SUBTOTAL

Cash Disbursement to Creditors
TOTAL CASH PAID OUT

Cash on hand (end of month)

[hHI
Imll
llllll
Imll
11ml
lllm
111m
IIm

11.167

3.374
0
0
0
325
1.469

3,000

3.000
325
1,719
0
7.531
0
0
0

250

7.531

mm

27,8595

79,872

1,071

yiiii

Professional Fees

79,872

10,396

17,791

0

0

0

0

28,186

10,396
59,304

17,791
79,581

0

0

0

0

28,186

79,581

79,581

79,581

79,581

lllllllllllll

0

In the Matter of the Proposal of Ftexfl Inc., formerly CC Cornerstone Credit Ltd.

Appendix "1"

Statement of Estimated Realization

As at September 24,2019
Bankruptcy

Low

High

Proposal

Low

High

Notes

Estimated Receipts
S 33,000 S 33,000

Cash on hand
Collection of accounts receivable

440,000

Less; doubtful allowance by Trustee

590,000

(110,000) (147,500)

FS Financial Loans Receivable

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Website, trademark and underwriting model
Proposal payments
Total receipts

1,000

460,000

460,000

476,500

460,000

460,000

100,000

60,000

60,000

30,000

60,000

40,000

110,000

147,000

11

8,000

8,000

12

278,000

255,000

60,000

30.000

85,000

221,500

400,000

430,000

363,000

Estimated Disbursements

Trustee fees

Legal fees
Employee wages, office expenses and IT
Rent

Total disbursements

Estimated cash available for distribution

9

10

Creditors(estimates):
Deemed trust creditors of

NIL

13

Secured creditors of

NIL

13

Preferred creditors of

NIL

Unsecured Creditors of

S 4,702,253.68

13
1.81%

4.71%

8.51%

9.14%

14

Shares In Flnjoy

1) This statement has been prepared based on Information provided by the Company.
Z) As at September 24,2019,the Company had cash on hand totaling about $33,000.

3) As at September 24,2019,the Company had aaounts receivable totaling $1,067,160 consisting of SS8 customer accounts. This includes an
allowance for doubtful accounts totaling $4S3.177(184 accounts)which represents accounts in default for over 180-days. The Company
estimates that between $440,000 to S$90,000 can be collected over the course of 2 years.
4) In a bankruptcy,it Is not uncommon for the Trustee to face challenges in collecting accounts receivable. For conservative purposes,the
Trustee has allowed for an additional 2$% as doubtful.

SI This is an related company loan. However,FS Finandal Loans ran into dlincultles with the BCSC and its bank accounts have been froien. The
accounts have been froien for over three years and the company hat around S50MM in liabilities. Mr. Ardalan does not believe anything can be
coliected,

6|The Company owns office furniture, computer hardware/software and equipment with a bock value of $4,093.19, The Company believes
tfiese assets may be worth 51,000 at most under a forced liquidation scenario. The Trustee does rtot believe these items are of nominal value.
7) The Company owns a website,trademark and underwriting model with a book value of $58,262.23. The Company does not believe there is
any value for these hems. For purposes of this calculation, the Trustee has not attributed any value to these hems.
8) Represents cash payments pursuant to the terms of the proposal.
9) This is a conservative estimate. In a bankruptcy,the Trustee will be responsible for the collection of the accounts receivable. The Trustee

believes h would be mere cost effective to retain existing staff to assist with the collection of the accounts receivable. The Trustee will be
required to supervise and assbt with the collection. Accordingly, hs fees are expected to be higher than in a proposal.
10) This te a conservative estimate. In a bankruptcy,the Trustee will be responsible to coOect the accounts receivable, legal services may be
required to assist whh the collections. In a proposal,the Trustee does not anticipate the need to retain legal services at this time after the
proposal has Ireen aaepted by the creditors and approved by the Court.

Ill Due to the nature and volume of the accounts receivable, the Trustee believes it win be more cost-effective to retain exbting staff to assist
with the collection of the accounts receivable in the event of a bankrutpcy. Tire Company believes at least one or two full time employees are
required to collect a majority of the receivables over a span of 12 to IS months. It is questionable whether the employees will continue to work

and If so how much wUI they require. The Trustee has allowed wages/salary, office expenses(telephone, postage,etc)and IT costs of 2StC of the
gross accounts receivable collectable.

12) in a bankruptcy, the Trustee does not anticipate occupying existing premises. However,the Trustee has allowed one month of occupation
rent In order to fadPtate the relocation of the accounts receivable information.

13) The Trustee is not aware of any deemed trust, secured or preferred creditors.
14) Estimated distribution to the ordinary unsecured creditors.

15) The FVoposai also provles for the distribution of shares of Finjoy to the unsecured creditors. Due to the uncertainty with respect of the
value of the shares, this has been excluded from the above calculation.

